
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

29 November 2021 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 7th December, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston PE21 8QR 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Judy Welbourn 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Peter Bedford, 

Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Neill Hastie, 
Yvonne Stevens and Chelcei Trafford 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

B.   MINUTES                                                                                            (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 To sign and confirm the  minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 
 

D.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 2nd December 2021.  
 
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   CARBON REDUCTION PLAN BOSTON                                         (Pages 9 - 128) 
 

 A report by The Climate Change and Environment Officer 

 

2   PROTECTING THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF RESIDENTS  
LIVING IN HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPANCY                      (Pages 129 - 134) 
 

 A report by the Safer Communities Service Manager 

 

3   MEMBER WORKING GROUP FLY TIPPING  
 

 A verbal update by Councillor Judy Welbourn  

 

4   WORK PROGRAMME                                                                  (Pages 135 - 136) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 
 
Notes: 
 
 
As Covid 19 is still perceived as a risk, the Council will continue to manage the workplace 
to protect all who use it. 
 
All persons proposing to attend this meeting in person are encouraged to take a Lateral 
Flow Test before entering the building.  ALL persons entering Boston Borough Council 
premises are required to sign into the Test and Trace registers.  
 
During the meeting, all attendees should endeavor to maintain social distance, wash and 
sanitise hands and ensure fresh air is entering the room via opened windows or fresh air 
ventilation system. 
 
A Risk Assessment in place for this meeting which details any mitigating factors and is 
available on request from the Health and Safety Team. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314226.    email:  karen.rist@boston.gov.uk  
 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

26 October 2021 

Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Judy Welbourn (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Katie Chalmers, Paul Goodale and 
Yvonne Stevens 
 
Portfolio Holder Councillor Paul Skinner.  
 
In attendance:  
 
Officers –  
Assistant Director - Regulatory, Climate Change and Environment Manager, Insights & 
Transformation Manager and Democratic Services Officer 
 
18   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies were tabled by Councillor Peter Bedford with Councillor Stephen Woodliffe 
substituting, Apologies for absence were also tabled by Councillor Anton Dani no 
substitute member in attendance. 
 
19   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the committee the Chairman signed the minutes of the previous 
meeting. 
 
20   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
No declarations of interest were tabled.  
 
21   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
No public questions were tabled.  
 
22   CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

 
The Climate Change and Environment Manager presented the report supported by 
Portfolio Holder Councillor Paul Skinner. 
Members were advised that the strategy was the next stage in the Climate Change 
programme moving beyond the confines of the Boroughs own carbon footprint to look at 
wider issues in the local communities. The strategy looked to drive down carbon 
emissions and ensure a more sustainable way of working.  It would also deliver benefits 
to health and wellbeing and offer opportunities around training, local skills and in general 
around a number of social value aspects. 
The Strategy would present a strong message both locally and nationally that the three 
authorities are taking a lead in establishing a collaborative approach with partners and 
stakeholders.  Whilst the three authorities are at differing stages with differing 
commitments in terms of their own carbon aspirations, overall they would be working 
strategically as a whole.  Co-ordination would be key as the Council could not address 
many issues in isolation but it was in a good position to lead by example.   
 

Page 1

Agenda Item B.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 
 

 
Furthermore, by establishing the document it would prove the strategic need for the 
authorities in securing future external funding.  
The consultation process would be lengthy and key areas had already been identified 
based on existing data from the Department for Business, Energy and Industry and from 
local knowledge. 
The initial working group agreed that a key point in establishing the strategy would be to 
convene a Climate Change Assembly and steps on how to establish one were underway 
with consideration of existing networks to provide a steer on the best way forward. The 
vision was that local authorities would provide support to a Climate Action Network but it 
would have its’ own Chairman and once it was established and it adopted the document, 
one task would be to look at establishing the delivery plan. 
Boston Cabinet had already approved the document for consultation with and East 
Lindsey District Council set to approve it, at its forthcoming Executive meeting.  The 
launch date for consultation across the two Councils’ would be on 10th November 2021 
to enable capture of all the activity from COP26 for inclusion in the process.  The 
consultation would run through to the middle of December 2021 with all stakeholders 
invited to attend a workshop in either Boston or Louth.  Moving forward, once the 
document included all the feedback from the consultation, Cabinet and the Executive 
would receive the final document prior to seeking adoption by Full Council in Spring 
2022. 
Work with South Holland District Council was at an early stage, however their Scrutiny 
and Executive would receive a report prior to the end of the year and with their 
consultation scheduled for early 2022, Officers were confident of alignment of the final 
strategy across the three authorities.  
 
Significant committee deliberation followed which included the following: 
 
In response to a question querying the lack of reference to new build developments and 
the standard of products required for installation, the Climate Change and Environment 
Manager advised that the subject sat within the build environment section of the draft 
strategy. Members needed to be mindful of what was set in policy, with anything in the 
strategy needing to align with the existing planning policy, together with a new 
Environment Bill scheduled for Royal Ascent along with a new Planning Bill, both of 
which would result in significant change.  Officers recognised that due to the changes of 
policy that would eventually be implemented, ongoing new builds with existing fittings 
could require retro fitting once the new policies were in place.  The Council had 
employed a Sustainability Development Officer who was identifying gaps in policy and 
was working alongside Officers in Boston.  
The Portfolio Holder advised that there was no fixed direction on how to build a house 
and a Member stated that many existing houses within Boston were sited in an 
unsuitable position to benefit from solar panels and suggested that moving forward, 
developers needed to look at the design and elevation of estate developments to 
maximise collection of power. 
A further Member of the committee stated that emerging technology would be essential 
in ensuring that the building of future homes contributed to carbon aspirations.  He 
further noted that he was confident that building regulations would eventually align with 
policy but also voiced concern at the low land values and their viability and impact on 
the residual land available.  Homes would become more expensive to build and future 
decisions on developments would require consideration of the need for section 106 
agreements against the need for the homes. 

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 

 

    
Referencing the Boston Alternative Energy Facility (BAF) a Member stated they had 
concerns on the CO2 emissions from the chimney on the plant whilst another Member 
asked if the site would actually provide a nett gain on such emissions and further 
questioned the positon in respect of the Biomass Power Station 
The Portfolio Holder confirmed that the BAF project would have 3 lines with 2 capturing 
carbon.  There were not too many facilities producing carbon capture efficiently and with 
the recent lack of supply of C02 the site would provide a good source for the food valley.   
The Assistant Director – Regulatory (and Lead Officer for the Committee) confirmed that 
emission standards were very stringent and the application for BAF was with the 
National Planning Inspector. If granted, the Environment Agency would managed the 
site and the Council had little influence on the project, as it was only a stakeholder.  
The Biomass Power Station would generate much needed power for the area with the 
existing network capacity being insufficient. It would take our local waste, which in turn 
would help reduce transportation of the waste to the existing site.  Moving forward with 
the changes to electric vehicles and powering homes, further reducing its carbon 
footprint by utilisation of local facilities.   
 
Seeking clarification on points within the strategy a Member sought clarification on the 
diagram on page 31 where one stream appeared to be missing and on the wording 
within page 22 relating to the preparation of the 3 districts, asking if it was generic 
wording as clearly the three districts had individual needs.  The Climate Change and 
Environment Manager agreed that a stream was missing and that the wording used was 
generic.   
The Member further voiced concern at the practicality of converting all properties to take 
air pump heating but was reassured that hybred systems would be available for use with 
conventional tanks alongside the electric boilers. 
 
Stating he felt the need for greater inclusion of children in taking climate change forward, 
a Member stated that it would be they, who would create the technology required. It was 
vital that they understood the current challenges to allow them to produce the 
technology required.  Members agreed the need for the inclusion of all children from 
early years in the education of recycling and climate change. Furthermore, Members’ 
acknowledged the importance of their own roles in both warning and encouraging the 
public and in recognising that the whole success of changes was dependant on 
technology not yet produced. 
 
Whilst not wishing to diminish the report and stating he fully supported the concept, a 
Member voiced concern at the lack of any reference to hydropower and green industries 
within the draft strategy with the borough having both river and seawater running 
through it.  The town had three possible sites for turbines at the Black Sluice, the North 
Forty Foot and alongside the barrier to provide direct power.  Furthermore, the Member 
stated the biggest challenge Boston faced was that of rising sea levels.  Whatever level 
of green energies emerged and however much homes became green would all be 
irrelevant, if the Borough could not protect itself from the sea due to rising tides.  All the 
efforts made to combat climate change would be pointless.  A further Member agreed 
the comments stating the river and the sea had the potential to be an eastern 
powerhouse of green electricity, however they voiced concern at the proposal of wind-
pumps. Noting the concerns on flooding, a Member asked how the increase in droughts 
each year could be overcome, referencing farmers who already took water from dykes. 

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 
 

The Member suggested encouragement of additional water catchment areas in the 
borough.    
The Assistant Direction – Regulatory advised that Lincolnshire County Council who were 
a key stakeholder in the network, had recently launched their own strategy.  They would 
work alongside the districts, flood risk was within their strategy, but mitigation and 
adaption of flood risk was an area requiring further address to include adaptation of 
homes in flood risk areas to be liveable.   
The Portfolio Holder agreed that water is a resource and treated as such with the 
possibility of the development a large reservoir in the south of the county with water 
taken from the river Witham. 
 
Members discussed the prioritisation within the strategy of the change to electric 
vehicles and the charging of them.  They noted that Lincolnshire County Council would 
be part of the solution in addressing the issue.  Concern noted the need for fast charging 
points and the shortage of electricity in the area resulting in the grid restricting the 
locations to site them.  Additional concern noted the issue of homes with no off-street 
parking charging their vehicles.  Certain areas were looking at running cables to the 
vehicles and others at burying cables within the footpaths.   
 
Voicing concern at the ongoing production of coal and its shipment around the world by 
nations including Australia, India and China and America, a Member stated that he 
applauded the intent of the strategy, and that of the people intent on addressing the 
issues.  However, he stressed that the outcome of any change to stop climate change 
lay elsewhere with the final responsibility for the significant impact required, relying on 
those counties who continued to build fossil-fuelled power stations and those countries 
who continued to mine and transport the fuels.  Despite the best efforts of the rest of the 
world, those Countries would dictate the outcome.  
Referencing previous comments in respect of rising sea levels the Member further 
voiced strong concern at rate of the ice cap melting in Greenland, which would cause a 
catastrophe should it break off.   He stated that there appeared to be no plan for such an 
event occurring which for Boston had to be a priority, due to its proximity to the sea.  
Despite previous warnings of the loss of land locally, to the sea, Boston now stood in a 
very dangerous position due to those in power ignoring the warning.  Noting the graph 
within the report, the Member said that although Boston had a budget of 3 mega-tonnes 
of gases that would exhaust in 9 years, it could stay within its carbon budget be reducing 
emissions by 8.2%.  However, the Member felt the levels needed to fall more as current 
levels of CO2 in the atmosphere were at their highest in 800,000 years. 
 
Referencing the loss of the National Bus service between London and Mablethorpe and 
the reduction in local bus service timetables due to a shortage of drivers, a Member 
questioned the need for liaison with the bus companies.  The operators needed to come 
forward with their plans, in respect with climate change and the declining numbers of 
drivers causing the loss of service.  
The Portfolio Holder agreed the concerns and advised committee that Boston had been 
identified as an ideal place to run a pilot scheme for electric buses, which would reduce 
the current level of fumes in both Narrow Bargate and on the Town Bridge significantly.  
The issue of drivers re-locating to other areas of employment was driven by market 
forces and was nationwide. Vehicle technology was evolving and would change 
significantly over time. 
 
 

Page 4



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 

 

 
The Assistant Director – Regulatory advised committee of 2 surveys recently published 
by Lincolnshire County Council into which Members could have input. 
The first was the Lincolnshire Transport Plan and provided an overarching strategy of 
transport in the county.   
The second being the Bus Service Improvement Plan looking at public transport across 
the county including routes / infrastructure / bus depots and fares and ticketing and was 
the platform for Members to comment and suggest on.  All Members has the opportunity 
to influence both documents via their respective surveys.  
 
The final subject under discussion referenced social housing landlords, both private and 
public sector, being compliant to energy ratings.  Members noted that the standard of a 
significant number of social housing in Boston was not what is should be resulting in 
tenants living in fuel poverty in decaying and unfit properties. 
The Climate Change and Environment Manager advised that such properties were 
currently required to conform to E rating to secure their certificate.  Nationally there was 
a push to increase that level to a C rating in an attempt to raise the standard of rental 
properties.  However, there were issues in respect of enforcement of such a change.  
East Lindsey District Council had been successful in securing funding in 2020 that 
enabled a pilot to be undertaken allowing enforcement of the regulations and ensuring 
that the landlords were complaint. Their outcome had provided much needed 
information moving forward. Housing Standards at Boston had applied for funding but 
not been successful and Officers were still looking at options, but South Holland District 
Council had been successful in securing similar funding to allow similar activity. As such, 
the alliance had two out of three authorities already taking action. Officers were aware of 
the situation at Boston and would attend the Landlords at their forum in December in an 
attempt to engage further with them.  
Members suggested inviting landlords to a meeting to report on how they plan to make 
existing properties compliant with climate change activity.  
 
In conclusion, the Chairman thanked the Officer for such a comprehensive report and for 
her enabling the Chairman to attend the Carbon Trust meeting where Boston Borough 
evidenced how active it had been to date in reducing its carbon footprint. Committee had 
deliberated the report in detail, in general agreeing the collaborative approach 
undertaken with partners and stakeholders as the best way forward. They further 
recognised the importance of the inclusion of children throughout the process and the 
children’s role in years to come.  Members also understood their role in encouraging and 
supporting efforts to reduce emissions and fully acknowledged the dependency of 
everyone, on the as-yet un-developed technology, which needed to be produced to 
address the overall issues.   
 
RECOMMENDED: 
 

That the Environment and Performance Committee support the Cabinet’s agreement to 
commence consultation of the draft Strategy. 
 

To Do:   
 

KR:  To issue and invitation to the landlords forum to seek their attendance to report on 
how they plan to adapt existing properties to comply with climate change 
 
 

Page 5



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 
 

 
 
23   MEMBER WORKING GROUP FLY TIPPING 

 
Councillor Judy Welbourn advised that there had been no further meetings of the 
working group since the last meeting of the committee.  The Portfolio Holder had held a 
successful public meeting at which the Enforcement Officers had Council Officers’ 
admirably answered a number of difficult questions. Councillor Welbourn advised she 
would speak with the officer for the working group to ascertain if further meetings were 
required or if the group would conclude its activity and return a report through the parent 
committee. 
 
24   WORK PROGRAMME INCLUDING QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE 

REPORTING. 
 

The Transformation and Governance Manager presented the newly formatted Quarter 1 
monitoring report and confirmed that the report aligned with the directorate across the 
alliance. The new report did not split the data by scrutiny committee remit and each 
committee would receive the same report.  It would enable each committee to refer 
items to the other committee should they wish.  The performance monitoring was colour 
coded red, amber and green and an overview of each ‘outside of agreed tolerance’ area 
followed to highlight the red markers in each directorate.  
 
Assets: 
Car parking was down but the performance level was not unexpected due to the impact 
of Covid19.  
Housing and Wellbeing: 
Unfortunately, due to the introduction of a new IT system, it had not been possible to 
include all elements of the service in quarter one as systems for housing and 
homelessness were not in place.  However, work was ongoing and reporting should be 
available for the next quarter.   
Of the two measures reported, the number of properties improved through Council 
intervention had improved and although the rough sleeper indicator was red, the target 
figure of 0 was an aspirational figure and the Council did not expect to meeting each 
quarter. 
Organisation and Corporate Support: 
The alliance carried out a number of staff surveys and a key indicator was the response 
to the question asking how valued the staff felt.  The response to that question had not 
meet the target, however it was the first time the question had been asked and therefore 
there had been no past data to reference in respect of the target setting.  However, 
ongoing work to address the issue would assess the responses further. The Council 
scheduled ongoing work on both values and behaviours.  The One Team Voice group 
enabled staff to look closely at feedback. 
Operations.   
Household waste was in tolerance.  Due to a change in operation by LCC in respect of 
contaminated waste, no figures were available as the process was now by site and not 
by authority.   Fly Tipping was excellent.  However, the impact of Covid19 on the 
markets and changes to the markets had been severe and there was no information for 
the markets at this time.  
 
 

Page 6



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 

 

 
Planning 
The measures were very different from previously with the redaction of the extended 
figure having been withdrawn.  Previously data without extension would have been 
included in the attached comment.  If the national figures had been used, all categories’ 
would be green.  Officers were still considering the amended procedure for calculating 
these measures.  
Regulation 
There had been an impact of the Council’s food safety inspections during lockdown with 
food safety work prioritised around covid recovery.  Some areas of the previous work 
carried out remained outstanding but Officers were not concerned and the reasons 
given put the situation into context. 
PSPS: 
This was a new stream of reporting to Boston.  
Benefit Claims had been unprecedented and alongside that, the staff managed the track 
and trace system.  The comments set out clearly the action now taking place that 
included daily recording measures to allow staff to monitor the workload. 
 
Committee deliberation followed which included the following:   
 
Concern noted a change in the service provided by Centrepoint Outreach in respect of 
rough sleepers, with a Member stating it appeared their focus had changed to work 
programmes and activities.  A project worker now attended each morning to ensure 
follow up on rough sleepers.   Members agreed that an invitation be issued to Mr Phil 
Startin the Councils’ Rough Sleeper Coordinator to attend a meeting of the Corporate 
and Community meeting to provide committee with an update on any changes in the 
operation of Centrepoint Outreach in Boston.  
Referencing feedback to the survey a Member voiced concern at the response to the 
question relating to staff feeling valued, stating how important he felt it was that staff 
should feel valued and the response percentage was not acceptable.  The Member 
stressed that staff needed to feel valued both as a person and for the work they do, and 
the outcome could be a criticism of not only the executive and senior managers, but of 
Councillors too. 
Another member noted that at the Joint Scrutiny Alliance meeting the Chief Executive 
had felt the 62% response had been favourable bearing in mind the upheaval of the 
previous months with staff relocating, commuting and settling with the new alliance.  
The Transformation and Governance Manager agreed the two elements to the question 
and confirmed that a workforce plan was in place to get underneath the questions.  
There had been a wide range of reasons given for feeling undervalued and not all had 
been work related, but Officers did need to address it and then monitor and respond on 
what transpires,  
Further comment questioned how commercial rents had achieved a target in excess of 
104%.  Why was it not possible to know the situation of market stall attendance when 
the stallholders paid their rents direct to the markets manage on the day, and were fines 
still raised on the Council for contamination under the new LCC procedure? 
The Transformation and Governance Manager advised she did not know if charges for 
contamination still applied but questioned how they would do so as the new procedure 
was by site and not by Authority.  
 
 
 

Page 7



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
26 October 2021 
 

 
Concluding the Chairman sought committee’s agreement to issue an invitation to 
Anglian Water to attend a future meeting.  The invite would be to report on their current 
procedure in respect of their disposal of raw sewage into rivers and the sea,   
It would further invite them to advise how they intend to reduce their existing carbon 
footprint in respect of the transportation of raw sewage across the borough, and to 
update on any plans they have to improve their infrastructure and increase their number 
of treatment plants. 
Members all agreed the suggestion to invite Anglian Water and the Chairman thanked 
everyone in attendance for their time and input and formerly closed the meeting.  
 
To Do: 
KR.  Issue an invitation to Anglian Water.   
KR.  Advise the Corporate and Community Committee of the committee 
recommendation to invite the Councils’ Housing Officer to provide an update on any 
changes in the operation of Centrepoint Outreach in Boston.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 
# 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE  

DATE: 7 DECEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

CARBON REDUCTION PLAN, BOSTON 

 

TO GAIN MEMBER INPUT INTO THE DRAFT CARBON REDUCTION 

PLAN PRIOR TO ITS ADOPTION BY CABINET   

KEY DECISION:  NO 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE & ENVIRONMENT OFFICER  

HEATHER PRESCOTT 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

In 2020 Boston Borough Council declared a climate emergency and as part of the Council’s 

commitment to tackling global climate change and addressing the impacts of its operations, 

agreed to develop a new Carbon Reduction Plan. The Carbon Trust was appointed to provide an 

updated baseline for the Council’s carbon footprint via a Carbon Footprint Report and develop a 

Carbon Reduction Plan. These documents will help us benchmark the impact of our operations 

against the new 2019 footprint and drive action to take the Council towards its strategic 

objective of achieving net zero CO2 emissions. The Carbon Reduction Plan is a key step in 

Boston Borough Council’s response to the climate crisis and sets out a number of strategic 

actions that should be implemented to achieve the abovementioned carbon reduction target.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Environment and Performance Committee provides comment and input into the draft 

Carbon Reduction Plan and recommends its adoption to Cabinet in accordance with the 

Council’s commitment to reduce its carbon emissions as set out in the Corporate Strategy. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



Environment and Performance Committee also recommends that Cabinet agrees to refine the 

Council’s existing ‘net zero in advance of 2050’ to target to a more ambitious and measurable 

target of net zero by 2040 with a 45% reduction in carbon emissions by 2027. The Carbon Trust 

will be asked to update the Carbon Reduction Plan to reflect this ambition prior to it going to 

Cabinet. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

This plan provides a baseline and models a target pathway of recommendations and actions to 

enable achievement of our net zero aspirations.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

The Cabinet could decide not to adopt the Carbon Reduction Plan however, local authorities 

have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate climate change in 

line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008. The Council made a commitment to 

reduce its carbon emissions to net zero and this plan provides a baseline to model a target 

pathway to achieving these targets.   

 

1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1. Climate Change is one of the greatest global challenges of our time and Local Authorities      

have a crucial role to play in driving forward change and leading by example to enable us 
to adapt to and mitigate against Climate Change effectively and achieve a more 
sustainable future.  

 
1.2. The Carbon Trust was commissioned to produce an updated carbon footprint for Boston 

Borough Council to establish a revised carbon baseline, including measurement of 

selected Scope 3 emissions. Footprints for the financial years 2018/19, 2019/20 and 

2020/21 have been analysed to give the Council a better understanding of its impacts and 

to identify emissions hot spots and recommendations for reducing emissions in line with 

our targets. Comparison of the footprints for each year also provides the opportunity to 

quantify the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s emissions.   

 

1.3. The Covid-19 pandemic significantly affected daily activity at Boston Borough Council as 

employees were encouraged to work from home, business travel was restricted and 

activity at leased sites was limited due to national restrictions. The impact is evident in the 

emissions results for FY20/21 compared to the baseline with emissions decreasing across 

all categories and a total emissions reduction of 40%.  

 

1.4. Monitoring of our carbon emissions via an annual Carbon Footprint Report and producing 

plans such as the Carbon Reduction Plan will guide us via a pathway of recommended 

actions to meet our target of becoming net zero and this report sets out how this 

commitment would be strengthened by agreeing a set date with interim and annual 

targets. The Carbon Reduction Plan will serve to engage and inform key stakeholders on 

the level of ambition required to pursue decarbonisation across Boston Borough Council’s 

Page 10



operations and support future decision-making. 

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. The Carbon Trust have worked closely with the Climate Change & Environment Team to 

identify and prioritise carbon reduction projects and develop a set of recommendations to 

reduce carbon emissions across the organisation via the Carbon Reduction Plan. The 

projects identified show a potential to reduce scope 1 and 2 emissions by 74% by 2030 

and 90% by 2050 (as per the current target) from the FY 2018/19 baseline. The projects 

identified also have the potential to reduce total emissions (including scope 3 which are 

usually outside of the Council’s direct control) from 3,859tCO2e tCO2e/year to 

2,423tCO2e/year by 2050. 

 

2.2. In terms of contributors to emissions, operational emissions (electricity and natural gas) 

and fleet, together with emissions from leased buildings are the main contributors to the 

footprint and therefore should be prioritised for emissions reduction measures. However, 

the Carbon Reduction Plan identifies opportunities to reduce fleet and operational 

emissions as these are within direct control of the authority but excludes leased buildings. 

Leased buildings present a more significant challenge and it is recommended that a 

decarbonisation strategy for these sites is developed to address how we can influence 

emissions reductions for these sites that we don’t have direct control of.  

 

2.3. The Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex is currently responsible for 51% of operational 

emissions, the vast majority of which result from the gas heating system.  However, as a 

result of funding via the Towns Fund there are plans to move to a new electrically fuelled 

site with state-of-the-art facilities that should reduce emissions considerably.    

 

2.4. The Crematorium is responsible for 22% of operational emissions and the vast majority of 

these are resultant from gas combustion in the cremator furnace and gas heating system. 

Along with potential fabric, glazing upgrades and solar opportunities at the site it is 

recommended that a Decarbonisation/Waste Heat Strategy should be developed in the 

short term. In the medium term it is recommended that a biogas blend be considered to 

fuel the furnace and a move away from gas entirely to be considered in the longer term. It 

is important to note that as the electrical grid decarbonises, resultant emissions from 

electricity consumption will decrease whereas emissions from gas consumption will 

remain constant.   

 

2.5. The Guildhall Building is currently the fourth largest site for emissions however due to the 

Listed Building status this site currently has limited potential for carbon reduction 

opportunities and it is considered likely that a specialist survey will be required to identify 

achievable emissions reduction measures.   

 

2.6. The Municipal Buildings account for 17% of all operational emissions with 62% of this 

arising from electricity consumption. Opportunities have been identified to upgrade 

fabric, HVAC and heating systems and install renewable energy measures in the short 

term however there are challenges associated with these proposed upgrades. In the 

medium term, Building Management System upgrades and development of a solar car 

port are recommended however payback will be an important consideration at this site 
Page 11



due to the long term recommendation to relocate to a more energy efficient building 

which would allow for a more drastic reduction to emissions.  

 

2.7. Emissions from Fleet were equivalent to 15% of the Council’s total Carbon Footprint and 

the most effective way to decarbonise in this case would be electrification of the fleet. 

Electric Vehicles (EV) are a particularly attractive option due to reduced running costs, and 

air and noise pollution however cost is currently still a potential barrier. The Carbon 

Reduction Plan therefore recommends an initial trial and later rollout of Compressed 

Natural Gas vehicles followed by a trial and roll out of electric Refuse Collection Vehicles 

once supply chains have become more established.  

 

2.8. The Carbon Reduction Commitments detailed on pages 28-30 of the draft plan and the 

Timeline of Opportunity Implementation shown on page 43 highlight small milestones 

that we should be seeking to meet along our journey to net zero. The next step towards 

delivery will be for us to produce a Carbon Reduction Action Plan to include more detail 

and clearer delivery timescales.  

 

2.9. It is noted that the current net zero target ‘in advance of 2050’ is difficult to report against 

and it is recommended a more quantifiable target is adopted. Although Boston Borough 

Council declared a Climate emergency in 2020 the current target does not reflect this level 

of ambition, and as shown on page 24 of the Carbon Reduction Plan, all other 

neighbouring authorities do have a net zero or net neutral target date. East Lindsey 

District Council has annual, interim, and net zero targets which it is recommended that 

Boston bring its own targets in line with. This would ensure a joined up approach and 

allow for streamlined funding bids to be made by the two authorities. Introducing annual 

and interim targets would keep Boston Borough Council on track to meet their net zero 

ambitions and also aim to galvanise action in the short and medium term.   

 

    2.10. The recommendation is to be net zero by 2040 with a 45% reduction in carbon emissions 

by 2027. The year-on-year reductions target from a 2018/19 baseline would therefore be 

an average of 4.55% reduction each year against the baseline. This could be split in to a 

5.00% reduction each year against the baseline between now and 2027, and then a 4.23% 

reduction each year against the baseline from 2027 to 2040. The Carbon Reduction Plan will 

be updated to reflect the proposed new timeline before it is presented to Cabinet.  

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. The Carbon Reduction Plan is a key step in Boston Borough Council’s response to the 

climate crisis and will drive a pathway of actions to aid us in achieving our objective of net 

zero CO2 emissions. Member support to refine the current target to a more ambitious and 

quantifiable date will be important to help keep the Council on track. Implementation of 

the recommendations in the Carbon Reduction Plan will significantly reduce scope 1 & 2 

emissions and a strong commitment to bring these actions to fruition will be crucial to our 

success in meeting these ambitions. However, it will also be vital that we embrace new 

green technologies as they become available and viable; and identify new ways to reduce 

our emissions further over the coming years particularly in relation to scope 3 emissions 

which are beyond our direct control. It should be noted that Carbon Reduction Plan is a 
Page 12



high level document and therefore a more detailed action plan to include anticipated 

delivery timescales will be brought to Cabinet in Spring 2022.  

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

This plan provides a baseline and models a target pathway of recommendations and actions to 

enable achievement of our net zero aspirations.   

IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Carbon Reduction Plan will support us in achieving Priority 3 of the Corporate Strategy. 

STAFFING 

None 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate 

climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 and failure to do so 

could result in a legal challenge being made. 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

Recommendations identified in the Carbon Reduction Plan will require funding. External funding 
opportunities will be sought whilst ensuring that future expenditure within existing Council 
budgets seeks to include carbon savings as part of the procurement and delivery of services. 
 
The Council may seek to implement an invest to save fund for Carbon Reduction which can be used 
to support initiatives as well as provide match funding for external bids. 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

None  
 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Key officers together with members of the Climate Change Working Group were engaged with via a 

workshop and follow up interviews to enable better understanding of decarbonisation 

opportunities. Delegates who were invited to the workshop have also been consulted on the draft 

Carbon Reduction Plan.   

REPUTATION 

None  

CONTRACTS 
Page 13



None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

If implemented successfully, the Carbon Reduction Plan has the potential to not only reduce 

carbon emissions but also to deliver positive outcomes for the natural environment and the health 

and wellbeing of our communities. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Commitment to achieving net zero will be crucial alongside the work of all other authorities, 

businesses and individuals in the global battle to reduce our carbon emissions and limit climate 

change to temperature increases of well below 2% in line with the Paris Agreement. Failure to do 

so would be catastrophic to the environment with extreme weather events expected to become 

more frequent and severe. Rising sea levels would also potentially create the need for mass 

migration inland and huge losses to biodiversity could lead to water and food shortages amongst 

many other negative impacts on life as we know it. It is a global problem of which we can only 

make a small contribution, but we must seek to reduce our operational footprint as far as possible. 

ACRONYMS 

None 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Carbon Reduction Plan  

APPENDIX B  Carbon Footprint Report 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Corporate Strategy Our Plan for Your Future | Boston Borough Council 

(mybostonuk.com)  

Environment Policy https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-

protection-and-services/climate/  

Page 14

https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/our-plan-for-your-future/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/environmental-protection-and-services/climate/


 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Heather Prescott  

Climate Change and Environment Officer  

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

  

Page 15



FINANCE PROFORMA 

PROFORMA FOR APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 

(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 

 

FROM:   

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 

OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue Cost      

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£  Enter committee here  

Revenue cost 
 

£  Enter Council or 
Cabinet/Executive here 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
 
 
Risk 
 
 
 
Procurement 
 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 

 

 

 

 

This FP is valid for 3 months from 

FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original report it 

may invalidate this document, it must be 

reviewed by Finance. 

   

 

Page 16



Carbon 
Reduction Plan

November 2021

Draft

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

P
age 17



Contacts

2

Hector Wilson
Associate
Carbon Trust
Hector.Wilson@carbontrust.com

Hannah Cardiff
Analyst
Carbon Trust
Hannah.Cardiff@carbontrust.com

Sarah Baker
Climate Change and Environment Manager
Boston Borough Council
Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Heather Prescott
Climate Change and Environment Officer
Boston Borough Council
Heather.Prescott@e-lindsey.gov.uk

P
age 18



1. Executive summary

2. Context and introduction

3. Carbon footprint

4. Target setting

5. Carbon reduction commitments

6. Carbon reduction opportunities

Contents

7. Governance and engagement

8. Monitoring and reporting

9. Appendices

P
age 19



Executive summary

4

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 20



Executive summary

5

• This Carbon Reduction Plan is a key step in Boston
Borough Council’s (BBC) response to the climate crisis
and sets out a number of strategic actions that BBC
should work to implement to achieve their carbon
reduction target.

• This carbon reduction plan suggests a number of
projects that, alongside the decarbonisation of the UK
electricity grid, will contribute to the Council reducing
their carbon emissions.

• Emissions included within the carbon footprint and
targeted projects:

Scope 1 • Fleet fuel consumption • Gas consumption in 
the crematorium

Scope 2 • Electricity consumption in municipal 
buildings

• Electricity 
consumption in 
council operated 
buildings

Scope 3 • Employee commuting and business 
travel

P
age 21



Executive summary

6

• BBC’s carbon footprint for the financial year
2018/19 was calculate to be 3,858.6 tCO2e.
The footprint consists of 9 emissions
categories.

• Leased buildings make up the largest single
emissions source, representing 45% (1,739.9
tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Operation of buildings and facilities by the
council is an emissions hotspot. Emissions
from electricity, gas and other fuel
consumption make up 27% of the total
footprint (1,050.1 tCO2e).

• Operation of the council’s fleet is also a major
contributor to the footprint, accounting for 15%
(558.4 tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Emissions from supply of water, treatment of
wastewater, employee commuting and
business travel are only a small part of the
footprint – approximately 5% (187.0 tCO2e).

Carbon footprint summary

Scope 1
34%

Scope 2
8%

Scope 3
58%

FY18/19
3,858.6 tCO2e

361.8 850.1 23.6 690.1 37.9 9.2 1739.9 125.4 13.4
0

400

800

1200

1600

2000

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

P
age 22



Carbon reduction opportunities overview

7

• The following carbon reduction opportunities have been identified across the Council operations, with relevant project opportunities identified
for each. These projects will assist BBC on the pathway towards carbon reduction.

• The projects identified in this plan have the potential to reduce BBC total emissions from 3,859tCO2e tCO2e/yr to just 2,423tCO2e/year by 2050.

• The total estimated cost to implement the above projects is approximately £7.1mn not including any costs associated with large scale
construction or property rationalisation. The project proposals in this plan have been based on high level and remotely accessed information and
benchmarks. All projects will require full feasibility assessments to be undertaken to establish a detailed cost-benefit analysis

Municipal Buildings

Upgrade fabric and 
heating systems. 
Install renewable 
energy measures.

Public Toilets

Install energy 
efficiency measures 
to reduce electricity 
consumption

Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex

Relocate to new 
energy efficient site

Crematorium

Install energy 
efficiency and 
renewable energy 
measures.

Fleet

Electrify vans in fleet. 
Trial and roll out 
electric RCVs

Business travel and commuting

Encourage low 
carbon transport 
modes and milage 
management

P
age 23



Overview of Carbon Reduction Pathway

8

• 22 carbon reduction projects were 
modelled. The graph on the right shows 
the change in emissions with time. This 
only shows the scope 1 and scope 2 
emission sources which have been the 
focus of the carbon reduction 
opportunity analysis.

• Projects considered cover fabric, 
lighting, and heating and HVAC 
upgrades, as well as electrification of 
fleet vehicles and the installation of 
solar PV.

• If all projects outlined are implemented
then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 
2030 and 90% by 2050 from a FY 
2018/19 baseline. This is equal to 1,013 
and 1,436 tCO2e respectively.

• It is expected that the total capital cost 
of all projects will equal approximately 
£7.1million.

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet

-90%

P
age 24



Next steps

9

• Building on the analysis and project suggestions in this carbon reduction plan, BBC should now conduct further, more 
detailed feasibility assessments of individual project opportunities. This will ensure the Council is able to quantify 
costs and savings fully and be more confident in taking forward provisional project opportunities identified here.

• Considering the current emissions hotspots – operational buildings and facilities, fleet – BBC should prioritise and 
coordinate efforts to reduce emissions in the first instance, using the contents of this Carbon Reduction Plan in the 
process.

• BBC should use the initial quantifications provided (energy, carbon and cost-saving potential) as a building block for 
the development of further detailed business cases going forward. The information shown in this plan, along with an 
explanation of the limitations, should be clearly communicated to stakeholders and shared with key decision makers 
across the organisation.

• Establishing an immediate action plan to build on the findings of this Carbon Reduction Plan will help to ensure carbon 
reduction remains a key part of the Council’s agenda going forward, allowing the necessary budgets and 
organisational/governance structures to be developed accordingly to support decarbonisation.

9

P
age 25



Context and 
introduction

10

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 26



Context

11

• Growing acknowledgement of the latest science and recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change have resulted in
unprecedented recognition of the global climate emergency and the need to act urgently. According to the IPCC’s Fifth Assessment
Report, unless there are immediate, rapid and large-scale reductions in emissions, limiting warming to close to 1.5 °C or even 2 °C
will be beyond reach.

• The UK is already experiencing some of the effects of warming, such as sea level rise, increased flooding, warmer and wetter
winters, increased extreme weather events and storms. Continued warming is projected to magnify these impacts, and risks relating
to soil health, supply chains, public health and habitats will be exacerbated.

• The UK has recognised the scale of the problem and in 2019 declared a climate emergency, aiming to achieve Net Zero emissions by
2050. Local authorities have also recognised the issue, with 230 declaring a climate emergency. Local authorities have a crucial role
to play in developing effective pathways towards reducing their emissions, which, if successfully achieved, will help to reduce
climate impacts at both the local and national scale as well as delivering public health co-benefits resulting from cleaner air and
leading more active lifestyles.

• Boston Borough Council declared a climate emergency in 2020 and environmental awareness and accountability are identified as a
priority in the Corporate Strategy. BBC is committed to addressing the impact of its operations and as part of this commitment has
agreed to produce a new Carbon Reduction Plan. The Carbon Reduction Plan will serve to engage and inform key stakeholders on
the level of ambition required to pursue decarbonisation across Boston Borough Council’s operations and support future decision-
making.

11

P
age 27



Introduction

12

• In the first stage of the project, the Carbon Trust calculated a carbon footprint for BBC. The footprint included scope 1, scope 2 
and selected scope 3 emissions. The footprint was calculated for three consecutive years: FY 18/19, FY 19/20 and FY 20/21. A 
footprint report was produced which provided an overview of the carbon footprint, methodology and GHG Protocol, as well as 
highlighting key emissions hotspots within the organisation. 

• Following this, a workshop was held with key stakeholders from the Council to present key findings from the carbon footprint 
calculation. A Business as Usual (BAU) emissions pathway was presented which captured overarching effects on emissions, 
such as grid decarbonisation. Options for carbon reduction targets were presented and compared to other local authorities in the
area. In this workshop, initial opportunities for carbon reduction projects within the Council’s operations were discussed and 
identified.

• Key personnel identified from the workshop were interviewed to gather more information and understand the potential for 
emissions reduction projects across the Council. The information provided supported analysis of carbon reduction pathways for
BBC.

• This report forms a Carbon Reduction Plan. It includes a summary of the baseline carbon footprint calculation, information 
surrounding target setting and analysis of projects which should be implemented to drive carbon reduction across BBC. These 
projects have been quantified and present a gap-to-target. BBC should take the findings of this report forwards to inform a more
detailed decarbonisation action plan. 

Project overview

P
age 28



Carbon footprint

13

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 29



Carbon footprint overview

14

The Carbon Trust has calculated BBC’s carbon footprint in accordance 
with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol – the most widely used and 
accepted methodology for GHG accounting.

The organisational boundary also help determine how to categorise 
each emissions source within the boundary.

Under the GHG Protocol, emissions are categorised into 3 scopes:

• Scope 1: Emissions directly emitted by the organization (i.e. gas 
burnt in a gas boiler, tail pipe emissions from a vehicle)

• Scope 2: Emissions indirectly emitted from the consumption of 
purchased electricity, heat or steam.

• Scope 3: All other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and 
production of purchased materials and fuels, transport-related 
activities in vehicles not owned or controlled by the reporting entity, 
water consumption, waste disposal, etc.

This section provides an inventory of BBC’s greenhouse gas emissions in the financial year 2018/19 – the 
‘baseline’ against which future progress will be evaluated

Above: Emission scopes, as defined by the GHG Protocol.

P
age 30



Carbon footprint methodology

15

Carbon emissions are calculated by taking activity data (e.g. kWh electricity consumed, litres of fuel) and applying an emissions 
factor.

• Where possible, primary activity data should be be collected throughout the reporting period for the carbon footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS).

• Where primary activity data is not available, appropriate benchmarks or proxies can be used to estimate emissions from that 
source. For example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building. 

kWh 
(utilities)

miles or km 
(transport)

£ (contract 
value)

BEIS factor 
(kgCO2e/unit)

Emission  
(tCO2e)Activity data

Emissions 
factor

proxy factor 
(kgCO2e/unit 

spend)

What is a carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e)?
CO2 is one of 7 GHGs covered by the Kyoto Protocol. 
Each gas has a global warming potential (GWP). By 

comparing each gas’s GWP to that of carbon dioxide 
we can derive a CO2 e value - the commonly used unit to 

report GHG emissions.
Although CO2 has the lowest GWP, it is also by far the 

most abundant GHG emission. Hence the focus on CO2
when discussing emissions reduction and climate 

change.

P
age 31



Emissions sources included

16

Scope 1
Direct Owned 

transport
Fuel 

combustion

Process and 
fugitive 

emissions

Scope 2
Indirect Purchased 

electricity

Purchased 
heating / 
cooling

Scope 3
Indirect

Purchased 
goods & 
services

Capital goods

Business 
travel

Fuel & energy 
related 

activities

Waste from 
operations

Upstream 
transport & 
distribution

Employee 
commuting

Upstream 
leased assets

Downstream 
leased assets

Investments Use of sold 
products

Franchises
Downstream 
transport & 
distribution

Processing of 
sold products

End of life 
treatment

Upstream Downstream

Emissions sources to be calculated within the chosen 
boundary of this assessment were agreed with BBC, 
and include relevant Scope 1 and 2 emissions and 
selected Scope 3 emissions. Relevance of each 
emissions source was determined using a qualitative 
assessment of a) perceived magnitude, b) data 
availability, and c) sphere of influence alongside 
ability to achieve reductions through direct action. 

P
age 32



Boston Borough Council Footprint FY18/19

17

• The total footprint for BBC in FY 18/19 was 3,858.6 tCO2e.

• Over one third of emissions, 34% (1,318.2 tCO2e) were scope 1, these are operational emissions as a direct result of the combustion of 
fossil fuels within the council buildings and fleet. 

• Only 8% (290.3 tCO2e) were scope 2, resulting from emissions that arise from operational electricity consumption. 

• Over half of emissions, 58% (2,250.1 tCO2e) arise from scope 3. The majority of these are attributed to emissions from energy 
consumption in leased buildings and WTT and T&D associated with scope 1 and scope 2 emissions.

Natural Gas 
Consumption

46%

Fleet
35%

Other Fuel 
Consumption

1%

Electricity 
Consumption

18%

Waste
<1%

Water
1% Commuting

6%

Business Travel -
Transport

2%

Leased Buildings
77%

WTT and T&D
14%

Scope 3
2,250.1 tCO2e

Scope 1 and 2
1,608.5 tCO2e

P
age 33



Hotspot – Operational buildings and facilities

18

• The chart (right) provides site level view of operational emissions (Gas
and Electricity) for FY 18/19.

• Operational emissions from all sites make up 27% (1050.1 tCO2e) of
the total footprint.1

• Emissions are dominated by the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex and
the Crematorium. These two sites account for 73% of all operational
emissions.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, used for
space and water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease
with time in line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these
emissions will require energy efficiency measures and switching
heating modes, e.g. air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption, and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions, will increase over time. Due to the
rate of grid decarbonisation, it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions
themselves will increase. Hence measures should also be taken to
reduce electricity consumption across all operational sites.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC operated buildings and facilities

1 WTT and T&D is excluded from these numbers. It was found to be 182.4 tCO2e for 
operational emissions.

*Other contains temporary accommodation sites, leisure 
sites, power supply, depot and public toilets.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Head Office Guildhall
Museum

Geoff Moulder
Leisure

Complex

Crematorium Other*

Scope 2 (Electricity) Scope 1 (Gas)

P
age 34



Hotspot – Fleet

19

• The BBC fleet contained 41 vehicles in FY 18/19. 35 of these were diesel fueled maintenance vehicles, one diesel car and 5 pool
cars, assigned petrol fuel type. Maintenance vehicles include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors.

• Emissions from fleet contributed 558.4 tCO2e*, equivalent to 15% to the total carbon footprint.

• Fuel consumption figures were provided by BBC. The total estimated fuel consumption for FY18/19 was 213,045 litres.

Emissions from fuel consumed in vehicles owned and operated by the council

Road Sweeper
5% Van

12%

Tractor
1%

Refuse Disposal
81%

Diesel Car
<1%

Pool Car
1%

FY18/19
558.4 tCO2e

*Figures excluding well-to-tank, WTT. An additional 131.7 tCO2e was associated with Scope 3 WTT emissions from fleet fuel consumption

P
age 35



Hotspot – Leased buildings

20

• Emissions from leased buildings were found to be 1,739.9 tCO2e, 45% of
the carbon footprint.

• 19.4 tCO2e is from consumption of biomass at the Princess Royal Sports
Arena and the Enterprise Centre.

• Where actual consumption data was not available, emissions were
estimated from the floor area and building type.

• The chart (right) provides building category view of estimated electricity
and gas consumption FY 18/19.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, used for
space and water heating functions. These emissions will not decrease
with time in line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions
will require energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes, e.g.
air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption, and costs
associated with scope 2 emissions, will increase over time. Due to the rate
of grid decarbonisation, it is unlikely that scope 2 emissions themselves
will increase. Hence measures should also be taken to reduce electricity
consumption across all leased buildings.

• Leased building emissions are scope 3 and BBC does not have direct
control over them. It is important that BBC influence and engage with
building occupants to adopt energy efficiency and fuel switching
measures.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC leased buildings

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

1200000

1400000

1600000

Total Electricity Consumption Total Gas Consumption

P
age 36



Other emissions sources

21

Scope Emissions Source Total emissions (tCO2e) Percentage of total (%)

1

Natural Gas Consumption 746.4 19%

Fleet 558.4 14%

Other Fuel Consumption 13.4 0.3%

2 Electricity Consumption 290.3 8%

3

Waste 9.2 0.2%

Water 23.6 0.6%

Commuting 125.4 3%

Business Travel - Transport 37.9 1%

Leased Buildings 1,739.9 45%

WTT and T&D 314.1 8%

Total 3,858.6 100.0%

• Other emissions sources (Waste output and processing, Water consumption, Employee commuting, Business travel (transport),
and WTT and T&D) made up around 14% of the footprint in FY 18/19.

• Although these emissions categories contribute less to the carbon footprint, efforts should be made to reduce through initiatives
such as increased recycling, installing water saving measures, and encouraging active and public transport.

P
age 37



Target setting

22

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 38



Target setting

23

• Science-based target (SBT): Aligned to the 2015 Paris 
Agreement, targets are considered “science-based” if they are 
reach the level of decarbonisation required to keep global 
temperature increase below 1.5°C. This target requires a 4.2% 
year on year reduction in emissions from the baseline.

• Net Zero target: A net zero company will set and pursue an 
ambitious 1.5°C aligned science-based target for its full value-
chain emissions. Any remaining hard-to-decarbonise emissions 
can be compensated using certified greenhouse gas removal.

• In their Net Zero Strategy (2021), the UK government has 
committed to half direct emissions from the public sector by 
2032 (compared to 2017 levels) and aims to further reduce 
emissions from public sector buildings by 75% by 2037.

• BBC is at risk of being left behind. Multiple neighbouring local 
authorities have set Net Zero targets by 2030 – 2050. We 
recommend BBC set a science based targets that aligns to the 
latest climate science and national targets to meet Net Zero by 
2050 at the latest and develops a complementary Roadmap for 
how to meet the target.

Setting ambitious emissions reduction targets drives momentum for change, can spark innovation and investment 
and ensures reductions meet national commitments.

0.0

500.0

1,000.0

1,500.0

2,000.0

2,500.0

3,000.0

3,500.0

4,000.0

BAU Net Zero 2050 SBT 1.5 degrees

P
age 39



Target setting

24

• North Kesteven – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• Lincoln City – Net zero by 2030; measured 
against a 2018/19 baseline.

• East Lindsey – 45% reduction in emissions by 
2027 and net zero by 2040; against a 2018/19 
baseline.

• Lincolnshire County – 20% reduction by 2023 
and then carbon neutral by 2050; measured 
against a 2016/17 baseline.

• South Kesteven – 30% reduction by 2030 and 
net zero before 2050; measured against a 
2018/19 baseline.

• West Lindsey – Net zero by 2050; against a 
2019/20 baseline.

Neighbouring targets and ambitions

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

South Kesteven West Lindsey East Lindsey
Lincolnshire Lincoln North Kesteven

P
age 40



Science-based targets (SBT)

25

• Targets are considered “science-based” if they pursue the level of decarbonisation required to keep global temperature increase below 1.5°C. 
Although setting an arbitrary goal – a goal that is confidently achievable – may result in benefits for the organisation, setting a SBT allows an 
organisation to capitalise on these benefits to their fullest extent and move beyond incremental change. 

Build business resilience and increase 
competitiveness

Methods to set SBTs challenge organisations to re-align 
with the low-carbon economy. BBC could capitalise on 

this transition through long term cost savings, 
developing skills and creating social and environmental 

benefits for the wider community.

Build credibility and reputation
SBTs have high credibility with stakeholders. BBC 

can gain a reputational advantage and the 
confidence of the local community in their 

ambition to act on climate-related issues. Building 
credibility can enable greater stakeholder buy-in 

to projects.

Drive innovation and transform organisational 
practices
SBTs have a long term vision, allowing the organisation 
to look beyond ‘quick fixes’ in the near term. BBC can 
pursue ambitious decarbonisation projects which 
engage with the low carbon economy and bring a 
change in thinking to the organisation.

Influence and prepare for shifts in public policy
Given the national Net Zero 2050 target, setting a 
SBT would send a string signal to UK government 
and local businesses that decarbonisation is a 
priority for the council. Organisations with SBTs are 
much better positioned to respond to future 
regulatory change.

P
age 41



Carbon reduction 
commitments

26

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 42



Carbon reduction commitments

27

• In order to support Boston Borough Council’s ambitions and future carbon reduction target it is important to state how 
the Council aims to achieve these.

• The subsequent section outlines direct actions that could be implemented in order to reduce carbon emissions. 
Alongside the actions, the Council should also outline the steps required within the wider strategy that are needed in 
order to decarbonise.

• This section of the report therefore outlines a series of commitments that the Council should aim to align with going 
forward that will focus decarbonisation activities and also provide a layer of accountability.

• The commitments have been developed based on UK Government ambitions, suggestions outlined within the 
committee on climate change’s update reports, and Carbon Trust’s own extensive knowledge of developing 
decarbonisation strategies and providing assistance to UK public sector bodies.

• It is suggested that the Council review these commitments and ensure they align with both their ambition and 
expectations, going forward the commitments should be seen as steps to follow and a benchmark to report progress 
against.

• The commitments have been organised in four yearly intervals, to ensure regular action is taken, and enough time is 
given to move from commitment, to plan, to action.

P
age 43



Carbon reduction commitments

28

• Carbon reduction to be a high priority in business case decisions
• Carbon footprint to be calculated every year

o This should be expanded from the current baseline footprint to include all emission sources
• Any new builds or major developments will be designed and accredited to a net zero framework
• Energy audits of all council owned buildings will have been undertaken

o This will highlight carbon hotspots and detailed pipeline of costed projects to be implemented
• Waste heat strategy for the crematorium will be in place
• All lighting across council owned buildings will be LED
• Understanding of total renewable energy potential from solar PV will be known

o Feasibility studies of all council owned buildings roof space, car parks and land assets should be carried out and 
summarised within a renewable strategy

• Engage with key suppliers to communicate importance of emissions reduction in procurement decisions
• Install water saving accessories across all operational facilities
• Waste tonnage and type data will be collected 

By 2024

P
age 44



Carbon reduction commitments

29

• Boston borough council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Low carbon heat plans will be in place

o An understanding of future heating options for all council owned buildings should be in place, including heat 
pumps, hydrogen , or other low carbon fuels

• All cars and LGVs will be battery electric where practically possible
• Charging infrastructure at main council buildings will have been installed
• Trial of CNG HGV will have been undertaken
• All buildings will have up-to-date, standardised, and effective building management systems (BMS)
• Have 50% of renewable energy potential installed

o Developed in line with the renewables strategy
• Supplier commitment to reducing emissions will be mandated within procurement contracts for major suppliers

By 2028

P
age 45



Carbon reduction commitments

30

• Boston Borough Council will have reduced carbon emissions in line with target
• Every building will have undergone a full energy efficient upgrade

o Including installation of low carbon heating options identified within the heating strategy
• Have 100% of renewable energy potential installed

o In line with the renewables strategy

• All HGVs, including waste refuse vehicles will be zero emission vehicles

• The crematorium will no longer use gas-fired furnaces in its operations

By 2032

By 2040

By 2036

P
age 46



Carbon reduction 
opportunities

31

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 47



Carbon reduction opportunities

32

• This section of the project has developed and quantified a list of carbon reduction opportunities that could be 
implemented by Boston Borough Council.

• The opportunities identified have been guided by the analysis of the carbon footprint hotspots, in order to make sure 
that projects with the greatest carbon saving potential are suggested.

• Furthermore, individual discussions with particular areas of the council have been carried out to ensure the projects 
suggested are ambitious, relevant, and realistic.

• The projects identified are relevant only to scope 1 and 2 emissions, this has been done to ensure there is a focus on 
emission sources that the council have a direct influence over and therefore these easiest to impact on.
• The largest scope 3 emission source is from leased buildings, it is suggested that a strategy for decarbonising 

leased buildings is developed.
• The following pages outline the main focus areas for the carbon reduction opportunities as well as the quantified data 

of energy and carbon savings, potential capital cost, simple payback period and suggested year to implement.
• All opportunities identified should undergo a feasibility and technical assessment before implementation.

P
age 48



Summary of carbon reduction opportunities

33

• A total of 22 projects have been outlined across the municipal buildings, crematorium, Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex (GMLC), 
public toilets, Guildhall and fleet.

• These projects show a potential to reduce scope 1and 2 emissions by 74% by 2030 and 90% by 2050 from a FY 2018/19 
baseline. 

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects will equal approximately £7.1million.

Short term (2021 – 2025)

Upgrade fabric, lighting, HVAC and heating system in the
municipal buildings, install LED lighting and lighting
controls in public toilets, upgrade building fabric in
crematorium and chapel, electrify fleet vans and trial CNG
RCVs

Medium and longer term recommendations
are inherently subject to greater degrees of
uncertainty. These actions are made based
on the current state-of-play and should be
reviewed and updated as part of annual
reporting and governance. It is anticipated
that technology advancements, cost
reductions and policy support will create a
more favourable environment for action in the
medium/longer term and BBC should remain
agile and actively engaged with the market to
take advantage of favourable developments.

Mid term (2025 – 2030)

Municipal buildings: BMS is upgraded, solar carport is
constructed in parking area to supplement electricity
consumption

GMLC redevelopment is completed

Crematorium and chapel: Solar PV is installed on the roof
of the chapel and a biogas blend is used to fuel the furnace
in the crematorium

CNG RCVs are rolled-out across the fleet

Long term (2030 – onwards) BBC move to new, energy efficient municipal building, novel
cremation technologies are in use at the crematorium,
electric RCVs are trialled and rolled-out.

P
age 49



Municipal buildings carbon reduction opportunities

34

• BBC operates its head office in the Municipal Buildings. A proportion of the 
building is rented to tenants who are charged service fees for consumption of 
electricity and natural gas. The Municipal Buildings are split into three distinct 
sites, which vary in age and fabric standard. The original building is a 1908, solid 
brick construction, with little to no existing insulation or glazing. A second 
building is also solid brick, with no insulation, but does have some glazing 
measures in place. Finally, the new structure has some insulation and glazing 
installed and is built to a higher specification.

• The Municipal Buildings make up 17% of all operational emissions. 62% of 
emissions from the Municipal Buildings arise from electricity consumption and 
38% from fuel used in building energy.

• It is expected the Council will remain in the Municipal Buildings in the mid-term (5 
– 10 years) and are open to the possibility of moving premises due to the 
challenges associated with upgrading the fabric and heating systems of the 
Municipal Buildings. Projects with a payback period within this lifetime should be 
prioritised. This will increase the value of the building if the decision is made to 
move.

• The projects recommended which directly impact the building are related to 
fabric, lighting, HVAC, BMS and heating system upgrades. Construction of a solar 
carport in the car parking area has also been recommended as a way to generate 
renewable energy on-site, given the incompatible roof style for rooftop solar PV. 
Finally, in the long term, BBC should consider moving office to a more energy 
efficient building. This would dramatically reduce emissions from the office site 
and improve the comfort and experience of building occupants. 

Above: Boston Borough Council Municipal Buildings

P
age 50



Municipal buildings carbon reduction opportunities

35

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Emissions 
saving (tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

CapEx*** Payback period 
(yr)

1 Loft insulation Installation of loft insulation in the municipal 
buildings

Gas: 6,346
Electricity: 2,965

1.9 2023 ~£9,000 17.5

2 LED lighting in ‘new’ 
building

Installation of LED lighting in the newest section of 
the municipal buildings

Electricity: 32,729 7.6 2023 ~£21,000 5.9

3 Boiler upgrade for 
‘old’ building

Upgrading the boiler to a more efficient gas boiler 
in the old section of the municipal buildings

Gas: 58,118 10.7 2024 ~£20,000 11.5

4 HVAC service in the 
‘new’ building

Carry out a full service of the HVAC system and 
replace any failing or faulty parts

Electricity: 20,880 4.9 2024 Contractor 
quote required

-

5 Upgrade BMS Upgrade the building management system across 
the municipal buildings

Gas: 36,808
Electricity: 38,433

13.4 2026 ~£162,000 32.8

6 Solar carport Construct a solar carport in the parking area of the 
municipal buildings. This will provide on-site 
electricity generation and additional coverage for 
vehicles 

Electricity: 45,214 10.5 2026 ~£61,000 12.2

7 New office site Relocate office from the municipal buildings to a 
more energy efficient building

Gas: 368,079
Electricity: 86,830

88.0 2036 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Municipal Buildings:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 51



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

36

• The crematorium is responsible for 22% of operational emissions. 
The majority of these emissions (87%) come from combustion of 
natural gas in the heating systems and cremator furnace. 13% of 
emissions for the crematorium are attributed to electricity 
consumption for lighting and technical equipment in the cremator 
furnace.

• The crematorium and chapel buildings are currently fairly poor
energy efficiency buildings. Recommendations centre around 
building fabric upgrades, such as installation of cavity wall and 
loft insulation in the chapel and glazing upgrades in the 
crematorium building. Opportunities to install rooftop Solar PV on 
the chapel roof should also be explored to supplement electricity 
consumption on-site. 

• Finally, running the furnace is the most energy intensive process 
at this site. There are few alternatives currently commercially 
available and BBC should continue to monitor the market as 
alternative cremation technologies gain become established. A 
biogas blend to fuel the furnace should be considered in the 
medium term, with more ambitious action to implement novel 
cremation alternatives, such as Resomation, considered in the 
longer term.

Above: Boston cemetery drive

P
age 52



Crematorium carbon reduction opportunities

37

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Emissions 
saving (tCO2e)**

Implementation 
Year

CapEx*** Payback 
period (yr)

11 Glazing upgrade of 
crematorium 
building

Upgrade the glazing on all crematorium 
windows and glass corridor

Gas: 8394 1.5 2025 ~£9,000 36.7

12 Crematorium 
louvres

Louvres/brise soleils to be installed to the 
exterior of the glass corridor to reduce 
solar gain in the summer. No energy 
saving here but improved comfort levels.

N/A N/A 2025 N/A N/A

13 Upgrade cavity wall 
insulation

Upgrade cavity wall insulation in the 
chapel as far as possible

Gas: 3,592 0.7 2025 ~£4,000 37.8

14 Loft insulation Install loft insulation in the chapel Gas: 1,734 0.3 2025 ~£1,300 25.8

15 Solar PV Install Solar PV on the chapel roof Electricity: 27,538 6.4 2027 ~£32,000 10.6

16 Use biogas blend in 
furnace

Switch fuel combusted in crematorium 
furnace from natural gas to a biogas blend

Gas: 110,644
Biogas: - 110,644

20.3 2028 N/A -

17 Introduce use of a 
new cremation 
method

Implement the usage of Resomation or 
alterative cremation processes

Gas: 442,580
Biogas: - 110,644
Electricity: - 110,644

55.6 2040 N/A -

The following actions have been recommended to reduce carbon emissions at the Crematorium:

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 53



Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex carbon reduction opportunities

38

• The GMLC is responsible for 51% of operational 
emissions. The majority of these emissions, 77%, come 
from combustion of natural gas in the heating systems 
and pool heating. 23% of emissions for the leisure 
complex are attributed to electricity consumption.

• The Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex is expected to move 
to a new site with state of the art facilities, as a result of 
funding received through the Towns Fund.

Above: Geoff Moulder Leisure Pool Building

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Emissions 
saving (tCO2e)**

Implementation 
Year

CapEx*** Payback 
period (yr)

10 Leisure centre 
redevelopment

Demolition of existing centre and replacement with electrically fuelled
only state of the art centre that adheres to CIBSE good standard as a 
minimum

Gas: 2,235,782
Electricity: -848,319

213.5 2030 N/A -

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 54



Guildhall building

39

• The Guildhall building and museum is the fourth largest 
emitting site, with the majority of emissions from the 
consumption of natural gas for heating.

• Given the listed nature of the building, and discussions 
with the estates and facilities team it has been deemed 
that this site has limited potential for carbon reduction 
opportunities.

• Despite not being able to undergo any serious 
upgrades or retrofit, there are still some energy saving 
measures that can be put in place:
• Ensuring all electrical equipment is as efficient as 

possible
• Making sure that heating profiles are optimised

• Furthermore, it is recommended that a detailed energy 
audit is undertaken by a specialist consultant in listed 
buildings.

Above: Guildhall

P
age 55



Public toilets carbon reduction opportunities

40

• The public toilets operated by BBC are responsible for 1% of operational emissions. All these emissions are from 
consumption of electricity. Although these sites contribute very little to the total carbon footprint, there are simple 
energy efficiency measures that can be installed here at low cost to demonstrate BBCs intention to decarbonise.

• The following actions are recommended:

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving 
(kWh)*

Emissions 
saving (tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

CapEx*** Payback 
period (yr)

8 Installation of 
LEDs

Installation of LED lighting in all 
public toilet facilities

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 ~£2,000 5.9

9 Installation of 
energy efficient 
hand dryers

Replacement of old hand dryers with 
energy efficient models in all public 
toilets

Electricity: 3,240 0.8 2025 ~£3,500 9.8

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs

P
age 56



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

41

• BBC’s current fleet consists of 41 vehicles, the majority of which are diesel fueled maintenance vehicles. Maintenance vehicles
include road sweepers, vans, refuse disposal vehicles and tractors. The fleet also contains one diesel car and 5 pool cars, assumed
to be petrol fueled. Emissions from the fleet contributed 15% to the total carbon footprint. Vans contribute to 12% of total fleet
emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, the fleet must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. Electrification of the fleet is the most
effective way to decarbonise this emissions category. Cost parity in the near future and the resulting business case for electric
vehicles (EV) suggest that BBC should take up of electric vans as soon as possible.1 As well as reducing emissions, co-benefits of
EVs such as reduced running costs, improved driver experience and reduced air and noise pollution make use of EVs an attractive
option.2

• Since the emissions intensity of electricity in the UK is significantly lower than the emissions intensity of diesel, an emissions
reduction of over 50% for vans would be seen. As the UK grid continues to decarbonise, emissions reductions would continue to
decrease significantly.

Vans

1 Break-up with combustion engines, BNEF (2021)
2 Benefits of electric vehicles, EDF Energy

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* Emissions saving 
(tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

CapEx*** Payback 
period (yr)

18 Electrification 
of vans

Replace diesel fleet vans 
with electric vans 

Diesel: 25,034 Lt
Electricity: - 110,644 kWh

51.3 2024 £414,000 14.0

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 57



Fleet carbon reduction opportunities

42

• 11 of the fleet’s 41 vehicles are diesel fueled RCVs, responsible for 81% of fleet emissions.

• In order to reduce emissions, RCVs must transition from fossil fuels to electric vehicles. However, the price of electric RCVs could be a barrier
to procurement in the short to mid term. It is expected the price of electric RCVs will continue to fall as uptake increases and supply chains
become more established. As an interim strategy, BBC could immediately trial then rollout compressed natural gas (CNG) RCVs. During this
period, electric RCVs could be trialled with the aim of eventually converting the fleet from fossil fueled to electric.

• It should be noted that many councils are currently trialing electric RCVs with success. Westminter city council has partnered with Veolia to
roll out a fully electric fleet, from street sweepers to RCVs and Manchester city council is set to replace half its current fleet of RCVs with
electric alternatives.1, 2

Refuse collection vehicles (RCV)

ID Opportunity Description Energy saving* Emissions saving 
(tCO2e)**

Implementation 
year

CapEx*** Payback period 
(yr)

19 CNG RCV trial Trial use of compressed natural gas 
RCVs for a number of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Biogas: -5,841 kg

38.6 2024 ~£360,000 24.0

20 CNG RCV rollout Transition whole RCV fleet to 
compressed natural gas

Diesel: 44,184 Lt
Biogas: -17,523 kg

115.8 2027 ~£1,080,000 24.0

21 Electric RCV trial Trial use of electric RCVs for a number 
of vehicles

Diesel: 14,728 Lt
Electricity: -23,403 kWh

33.1 2030 ~£450,000 33.6

22 Electric RCV 
rollout

Transition whole RCV fleet to electric 
vehicles including previously CNG

Diesel: 88,368 Lt
Electricity: -234,030 kWh
Biogas: 23,364 kg

183.7 2032 ~£4,500,000 60.8

1 Westminster City Council and Veolia Electric Fleet, 2021
2 Manchester City Council invests £9.8m in electric refuse collection vehicles, 2020

*     Energy savings quoted here assume they are installed in isolation, ie. do not consider the impact of demand reduction made possible from other opportunities
**   Emission savings quoted are if they were installed in the present year, and not the implantation year
*** All capital costs quoted here are estimates, these should not be taken as actual costs and consultation with a supplier/installer should eb undertaken to better understand expected costs. It is assumed the vehicle is                    
purchased outright and not leased, electric vehicle purchasing incentives have not been taken in to account.

P
age 58



Timeline of opportunity implementation

43

2023
• Loft insulation and LEDs at 

municipal building

2024
• New boiler and HVAC servicing 

at Municipal building
• Rollout of electric vans
• Trial of CNG waste refuse 

vehicle

2025
• Fabric and glazing upgrades at 

the crematorium
• Upgrade all public toilets with 

LEDs and hand dryers

2026
• Installation of solar carport 

and BMS system at municipal 
building

2027
• Installation of Solar PV at 

crematorium
• Rollout of 3 further CNG waste 

refuse vehicles

2028
• 20% biogas blend used at 

crematorium furnace

2030
• Opening of Geoff Moulder 

Leisure Centre redevelopment
• Electric waste refuse vehicle 

trial

2032
• Rollout of electric waste 

vehicles for remainder of fleet

2036
• Suggested relocation of 

operations from municipal 
building to new low carbon 
building

2040
• Resomation technology 

installed at crematorium to 
replace furnaces

P
age 59



0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas Fleet

Carbon reduction potential

44

• If all projects outlined within the previous sections are 
implemented then it can be expected that scope 1 and 
2 emissions could decrease by 74% by 2030 and 90% 
by 2050 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• The graph (right) demonstrates the change in 
emissions with time. This only shows the scope 1 and 
scope 2 emission sources which have been the focus 
of the carbon reduction opportunity analysis.

• It is expected there will still be 582 tCO2e and 159 
tCO2e emitted annually in 2030 and 2050 respectively.

• These residual emissions are largely expected to arise 
from electricity consumption within the new municipal 
building and the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the 
other significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further 
actions in energy efficiency, use of renewables, or 
through greenhouse gas removals/offsets.

-90%

P
age 60



Project finance and cashflow

45

• The graph (right) shows the total spend on projects 
outlined within this section on a year by year basis, as 
well as the expected annual energy cost savings from 
said projects.
• It is worth noting here that only projects where 

capital costs have been quoted are displayed, for 
example cost of and energy savings of the 
relocation of the municipal building offices have 
not been displayed.

• It is expected that the total capital cost of all projects 
will equal approximately £7.1million; once all projects 
are implemented annual energy costs are expected to 
be just over £200k less than they currently are. Overall, 
this means that Boston Borough Council will not have 
positive cash flow until 2063.

• Energy saving costs take in to account projected 
changes in fuel costs.

-£6.0

-£5.0

-£4.0

-£3.0

-£2.0

-£1.0

 £-

 £1.0

Annual energy cost saving Capex Net cash flow

P
age 61



Commuting and business travel carbon reduction opportunities

46

• The emissions associated with employee commuting and business travel made up 4% of the total carbon footprint.
Although this is a small proportion of the footprint, it is an area where rapid, low cost measures can be effectively
implemented. The following opportunities should be considered to reduce the total journeys and milage carried out
through commuting and business travel:

Electric 
vehicle 

charging 
points

Video 
conferencing

Remote 
working

Public 
transport

Car sharing

Active travel

o Use of video conferencing tools to reduce face-
to-face meetings

o Car sharing schemes reduce miles driven in cars
at low capacity

o Remote working policy to establish when
employees need to travel to the office

o Encourage use of active and public transport as
low carbon alternatives to cars

o Install electric vehicle charging points to
encourage employees to own electric cars

P
age 62



The impact of remote working on emissions

47

During the Covid-19 pandemic, people were required to work from home for periods
of time. As a result, there was a dramatic reduction in emissions from transport, with
road traffic falling between 50 – 75%. However, domestic energy consumption
soared, with residential energy consumption jumping 15% at the start of lockdown in
UK.1

A review of 39 teleworking studies suggested that teleworking reduces energy
usage, however differences in methodology, scope and assumptions between
studies make it difficult to estimate an ‘average’ energy saving. Despite the generally
positive verdict on teleworking as an energy-saving practice, there are numerous
uncertainties and ambiguities about its actual or potential benefits. These relate to
the extent to which teleworking may lead to unpredictable increases in non-work
travel and home energy use that may outweigh the gains from reduced work travel.
The available evidence suggests that economy-wide energy savings are typically
modest, and in many circumstances could be negative or non-existent.2

A report published by the Carbon Trust found that remote working could save 4.1
MtCO2e per year in the UK.3 The report considered emissions from office energy,
avoided commuting and residential energy consumption. Teleworking post-Covid
(2022+) was found to have the potential to save 273 kgCO2e/teleworker/year. The
study found that saved office emissions were the largest contributor, followed by
avoided commuting, particularly where office buildings are inefficient. The scenario
is based on assumptions about future behaviour and ways of working and is
inherently highly uncertain.

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

272

889

429

273

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Pre-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: During-

Covid

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2021)

Total carbon savings
per teleworker: Post-

Covid (2022+)

P
age 63



The impact of remote working on emissions

48

Remote working under a hybrid model may lead to modest carbon savings on an individual level, however the 
outlook is complicated and hybrid working could lead to a rise in carbon emissions

149

273

Post-Covid (2022+) 68% desk
utilisation

Post-Covid (2022+) 90% desk
utilisation

The study found that factors such as seasonality, proximity to office and
mode of transport also have an effect on an average teleworkers
emissions. For example, a German teleworker commuting to the office in
winter can reduce their carbon impact by working in the office, whereas in
summer they will reduce their impact by working at home whether they
commute by train or car. Further, a typical German teleworker commuting
from a rural setting in winter will save emissions by working from home,
where an urban-based teleworker will increase their individual emissions.

Building stock energy efficiency is also important. In winter, as domestic
energy consumption raises to respond to the heating demand in the UK,
the carbon impact of teleworkers might end up being much higher,
particularly where the building stock is predominantly inefficient. This
could exacerbate the negative impact from inefficient homes that
consume a lot of energy and office buildings only partly utilised that would
heat half empty offices. This effect could also be seen where there is a risk
households split between teleworking and the office. In the worst-case
scenario, this split could result in consuming more energy and emitting
more emissions as both homes and offices are fully operating to enable
both parties to work.

1https://www.iea.org/commentaries/working-from-home-can-save-energy-and-reduce-emissions-but-how-much
2 A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, Sorrell et.al (2020)
3 Homeworking Report, Carbon Trust & Vodafone Institute for Society and Communication (2021)

P
age 64



0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400
1,600
1,800

Gas Electricity Biogas FleetGap-to-target

49

• Complying with national targets for Net Zero 2050 will require BBC 
to dramatically reduce its carbon emissions. However, there may be 
some hard-to-abate emissions remaining after implementation of 
ambitious decarbonisation projects. 

• If all projects outlined in this report are implemented then it can be 
expected that scope 1 and 2 emissions could decrease by 90% by 
2050 from a FY 2018/19 baseline.

• It is expected there will still be 159 tCO2e gap-to-target for a target 
of Net Zero 2050 for scope 1 and 2 emissions.

• These residual emissions arise from electricity consumption in the 
new municipal building and Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex 
redevelopment; fleet emissions are expected to be the other 
significant source of emissions in the future.

• These residual emissions could be reduced by further actions in 
energy efficiency, use of renewables. Once every effort has been 
made to reduce these emissions, offsetting using 
nature/technology-based greenhouse gas removals (GGRs) can be 
considered. It is crucial that offsetting should always be secondary 
to all efforts for reducing emissions within the BBC’s own GHG 
inventory. 

-90%

Above: Carbon reduction pathway for scope 1 and 2 emissions

Avoided nature loss

Limits the loss of nature such 
as forests and peatland, which 

currently sequester large 
amounts of carbon.

‘Additional’ emissions 
avoidance/reduction

Reduces emissions from 
current sources that don’t have 
the financial capacity, incentive 

or regulatory requirement to 
decarbonise (e.g., 

cookstoves, renewable energy 
and energy efficiency)

Avoidance/reduction

Nature-based sequestration

Uses nature to sequester more 
carbon in the biosphere, 

including reforestation and 
restoring soil, mangroves, 
seagrass and peatlands

Technology-based removal: 

Removes CO2 from the 
atmosphere using technological 

methods and stores it in the 
geosphere or through other 

secure methods such as 
concrete (e.g., BECCS1, DACCS2, 

construction using renewable 
timber)

Removal/sequestration

Above: the four categories of carbon offsetting.

P
age 65



Approach to offsetting

50

The exact level of GGRs required by BBC is not clear and the Council should outline an offsetting strategy to ensure integrity and validity of any
GGRs purchased. Market demand for voluntary offsets is expected to soar as Net Zero commitments rise and global offsetting schemes (e.g.
CORSIA1) become effective. The current market is not fit-for-purpose and many of the historic credits that exist on the market draw criticism for
not meeting robust standards. There are therefore calls from market participants (e.g. the Taskforce on Scaling Voluntary Carbon Markets) to
reform these carbon markets and a substantial amount of guidance is expected between now and 2050 as the sector evolves. In the long term, the
principles set out by the University Oxford for net zero aligned carbon offsetting are recommended as a guide for BBC:2

The voluntary offset market will undergo significant change between now and 2050

1 CORSIA: Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation
2 https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/reports/Oxford-Offsetting-Principles-2020.pdf

1

2

3

4

Shift to carbon removal offsetting
To ensure compatibility with the Paris Agreement, users of offsets should increase the portion of offsets that come from carbon removals. By 2050, 100%
of offsets should be sourced from emissions removals.

Shift to long-lived storage
Transition to methods of carbon removal that have a low risk of reversal, over centuries to millennia, for example storing CO2 in geological
reservoirs or mineralising carbon into stable forms (e.g., timber used in construction).

Support the development of net zero aligned offsetting
The market for high-quality offsets that currently meet principles 2 and 3 is immature and requires early-adopters to support its
evolution. This can be done through setting of long term agreements, forming sector alliances, and adopting and publicising these
principles in the OU’s approach to offsetting.

Cut emissions, use high quality offsets, and regularly revise offsetting strategy as best practice evolves
Reductions must be prioritised in the first instance to minimise the need for offsets. Any offsets that are used should be credible and maintain environmental
integrity. All reporting should be done transparently and current emissions, accounting methodology, target setting, and offsetting strategy should all be disclosed.

P
age 66



Governance and 
engagement

51

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 67



Governance

52

• To manage the implementation of a Carbon Reduction Plan it is 
important that organisational procedures and resources are put in place 
to maintain a focus on carbon reduction over time. 

• In order to achieve carbon reductions that will support decarbonisation 
ambitions, BBC will have to consider robust yet dynamic organisational
structures to ensure that they remain flexible in the approaches being 
taken to reduce emissions over time. 

• The Climate Change and Environment team should work with all 
departments across the council to ensure progress is made. 

P
age 68



Stakeholder engagement

53

• Robust engagement with stakeholders from across the Council will be 
crucial to enable successful climate action and project implementation. 
BBC should explore innovative ways for the whole organisation to 
contribute towards decarbonisation.

• An effective engagement strategy needs to be drawn up that actively 
involves all Council departments, employees and Councillors. Achieving 
the greatest possible input and buy-in will allow BBC to work closely 
with stakeholders to identify the areas of the Council to prioritise to 
reduce emissions. It will be important for the Council to remain 
transparent throughout all engagement activities, and to provide 
stakeholders with the opportunity to contribute towards the planned 
reduction activities that the Council intends to implement across its own 
estate. 

P
age 69



Monitoring and 
reporting

54

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 70



Monitoring and reporting

55

• Once a carbon footprint has been measured, a target set and a Carbon 
Reduction Plan outlined, monitoring progress is an important part of 
implementation. Monitoring and reporting are essential activities that 
should be undertaken at least annually between the baseline year and 
target year, and beyond.

• Regular data collection and calculation of the carbon footprint should be 
undertaken to track progress against decarbonisation targets.

• Not only does the footprint need to be monitored at least annually but 
progress with implementing carbon reduction opportunities should be 
actively monitored too, including implementation year, energy reduction 
and cost savings. In this way, successful projects can be reported in a 
quantitative as well as a qualitative way. This can help to drive 
momentum and support the securing of budget for future measures.

• In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, the project team should 
continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect the Council’s 
footprint and affect the ability of the Council to reach its carbon reduction 
target. This will help the team to identify other potential carbon reduction 
opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits of specific 
policies and actions can be delivered. 

P
age 71



Appendices

56

Boston Borough Council Carbon Reduction 
Plan

P
age 72



Appendix A

57

• Key personnel within the Council’s operations were engaged to better understand the opportunities for 
decarbonisation. The following people were contacted to be interviewed:

Stakeholders engaged

Person Position

Andy Fisher Assistant Director - General Fund Assets, Boston Borough 
Council

Nigel Hall Property Services Officer - Boston Borough Council

Richard Tweddell Property Manager, Boston Borough Council

Martin Potts Principal Officer – Bereavement, Boston Borough Council

Victoria Burgess Assistant Director –Neighbourhoods, Boston Borough 
Council

Dave Horry Principal Leisure Services Officer, Boston Borough 
Council

P
age 73



Appendix B

58

• All emission factors are taken from and align with the BEIS GHG reporting emission factors
• The following fuel unit costs are assumed: Gas – 3p/kWh, Biogas – 3p/kWh, Electricity – 11p/kWh, Diesel –

108.43p/litre
• Air source heat pumps are assumed to have a CoP of 3.0, existing boilers to be 80% efficient, and new boilers to be 

95% efficient
• The average annual temperature within Boston is 13.95oC, as taken from local weather stations
• Internal building temperatures are assumed to be 20.5oC

General assumptions

P
age 74



Appendix B

59

Project 
ID

Assumptions

1 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 1,805m2

2 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; LED saving results in 50% energy decrease as per CT guide CTV049

4 Municipal building aligns with CIBSE Part F type 2 ‘typical’ office; 25%:75% split between gas use for HWS:Heating; 10% energy 
saving possible through HVAC servicing as per carbon trust guide CTV046

5 10% total energy saving possible as per carbon trust guide CTG054

6 Potential solar PV area – 441m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

7 New build to have same floor area as existing site; new site to be electrically fuelled only; building to be built to RIBA 2030 standard 
of total energy intensity of 55kWh/m2

10 Assume new leisure centre complex to have same floor area, and to meet CIBSE guide F ‘good’ benchmark energy intensity of 
360kWh/m2

11 Total glazed area – 30.8m2; existing U-value – 5W/m2K, new U-value – 1.2W/m2K

13 Existing U-value – 0.55W/m2K; New U-value – 0.23W/m2K; Roof area – 156.5m2

14 Existing U-value – 0.2W/m2K; New U-value – 0.11W/m2K; Roof area – 268.5m2

Project assumptions

P
age 75



Appendix B

60

Project 
ID

Assumptions

15 Potential solar PV area – 214.8m2; 80% of area available for panels; 1m2 = 0.15kWp; EST solar calculator – 1kWp = 854.7kWh/yr

16 Gas blend to be 20% biogas, 80% natural gas

17 Resomation website literature – process consumes 1/5 of current cremation process

18 Current miles per litre for diesel – 7.2 miles/litre; Ford e-transit van achieves 2.93 miles/kWhe

19 Assume CNG vehicles will use compressed biogas as opposed to natural gas; current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; CNG 
vehicle achieves 0.58 kg(CNG)/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 2024

20 Assume a further three vehicles converted to CNG in 2027

21 Current diesel refuse vehicle – 0.68 miles/litre; electric vehicle achieves 2.34kWhe/mile; assume only one vehicle trialled initially in 
2030

22 Assume remaining diesel refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2032, assume CNG refuse vehicles converted to electric in 2037

Project assumptions

P
age 76



Appendix C

61

• GHG Greenhouse gas
• BBC Boston Borough Council
• DEC Display energy certificate
• PSDS Public sector decarbonisation scheme
• SBT Science based target
• SBTi Science Based Targets Initiative
• tCO2e Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
• PV Photovoltaics
• CoP Coefficient of performance
• aM&T Automatic monitoring and targeting
• BMS Building management system
• FES Future energy scenarios
• A/GSHP Air/Ground source heat pump
• kWh Kilowatt hour
• LED Light emitting diode
• HVAC Heating, ventilation and cooling
• GWP Global warming potential
• NOX Nitrous oxides

• SOX Sulphurous oxides
• BAU Business as usual
• FTE Full time employee
• BEIS Department for business, energy and 

industrial strategy
• EV Electric vehicle
• CIBSE Chartered institute of building services 

engineers
• CCC Committee on climate change
• GGR Greenhouse gas removal
• CNG Compressed natural gas
• CT Carbon Trust
• EST Energy saving trust
• DACCS Direct air carbon capture and storage
• RCV Refuse collection vehicle

Abbreviations

P
age 77



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, the Carbon Trust, its 
agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy and accept no liability for any errors or 
omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing 
in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any 
proprietary information in any way without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual 
property rights to the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with its registered office at 
4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

P
age 78



picture

Boston Borough Council

Carbon Footprint Report

September 2021

Version 1 - DRAFT

Picture by Chris Vaughan

P
age 79



Our mission is to accelerate the delivery of a sustainable, low 
carbon economy by helping businesses, governments and 

organisations across the globe to reduce carbon emissions and 

achieve greater resource efficiency.

1

P
age 80



2

Key Contacts

Prepared by:

Hector Wilson
Associate
Hector.Wilson@carbontrust.com

Hannah Cardiff
Analyst
Hannah.Cardiff@carbontrust.com

Approved by:

David Reilly
Director
David.Reilly@carbontrust.com

Prepared for:

Sarah Baker
Climate Change and Environment Manager
Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk

Picture by Chris Vaughan

P
age 81



Contents

1. Introduction

2. Executive Summary

3. Methodology

4. Analysis

5. Comparative Analysis

6. Recommendations and Next Steps

7. Appendices

3

P
age 82



1. Introduction

4

P
age 83



5

The Carbon Trust

Who we are

Established in 2001, the Carbon Trust works with businesses, governments and institutions around the world, helping them contribute 
to, and benefit from, a more sustainable future through carbon reduction, resource efficiency strategies, and commercialising low 
carbon businesses, systems and technologies.

• works with corporates and governments, helping them to align their strategies with climate science and meet the goals of the Paris 
Agreement;

• provides expert advice and assurance, giving investors and financial institutions the confidence that green finance will have
genuinely green outcomes; and

• supports the development of low carbon technologies and solutions, building the foundations for the energy system of the future.

Headquartered in London, the Carbon Trust has a global team of over 200 staff, representing over 30 nationalities, based across five 
continents.

P
age 84



Background

• Boston Borough Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2020 and environmental awareness and accountability are identified as a priority
in the Corporate Strategy. BBC is committed to addressing the impact of its operations and as part of this commitment has agreed to
produce a new Carbon Reduction Plan.

• BBC have previously measured their organisational carbon footprint, as detailed in the council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report for the FY
18/19. BBC would now like to produce an updated emissions report to reflect the council’s new climate commitments, progress and latest
developments.

• BBC has contracted Carbon Trust to produce an updated carbon footprint measurement for BBC. There is a need to establish a revised
carbon baseline for BBC, including measurement of selected Scope 3 emissions. Footprints for the financial years 2018/19, 2019/20 and
2020/21 will be calculated to give BBC a better understanding of its impacts and to identify emissions hot spots. Comparison of the footprints
for each year provide the opportunity to quantify the impact of Covid-19 on BBC’s emissions.

• In the next phase of work, the carbon footprint will be used to inform the development of a Carbon Reduction Plan, which will provide a
framework for reducing emissions from Boston Borough Council’s operations.

• The Carbon Reduction Plan will serve to engage and inform key stakeholders on the level of ambition required to pursue decarbonisation
across Boston Borough Council’s operations and support future decision-making.

Boston Borough Council

P
age 85



Background 

7

• Emissions produced from anthropogenic sources and activities have resulted in an increase in the average global temperature;
and over the next century average global temperatures are anticipated to increase by a further 2 – 4°C.

• This will have an inevitable effect on the planet’s climate and natural cycles, including an increase in flooding, sea level rise,
drought, wildfires and permafrost thawing.

• To combat this, in 2015, nations pledged to drastically reduce emissions in order to limit the rise in average global temperatures
to well below 2°C in line with the Paris Agreement.

• The UK has recognised the scale of the problem and in 2019 declared a climate emergency, aiming to achieve net zero
emissions by 2050.

• According to the IPCC’s Fifth Assessment Report, unless there are immediate, rapid and large-scale reductions in emissions,
limiting warming to close to 1.5 °C or even 2 °C will be beyond reach.

• In line with recommendations from the Committee on Climate Change’s 6th Carbon Budget, the UK is set to announce an
ambitious target to cut emissions by 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 levels.

• To date, around 230 councils have declared a climate emergency, thereby announcing their own climate ambitions and
emissions reductions targets.

Climate change and net zero

P
age 86



2. Executive Summary

P
age 87



Context 

9

• Boston Borough Council wants to first understand the carbon footprint of its operations and use this to identify
hotspots and opportunities for emissions reduction, which will inform its Carbon Reduction Plan.

• BBC has commissioned Carbon Trust to calculate its carbon footprint for FY19/20 and FY20/21. The previously
calculated baseline of FY18/19, as reported in the council’s Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report for the FY18/19, will be
revised to include selected Scope 3 emissions. The carbon footprint will also be a point of reference from which BBC
can continually monitor progress against targets.

• This report includes the presentation of BBC’s operational emissions, future reporting recommendations and the key
stages of strategy development which will be the focus of the next phase of work.

P
age 88



Insights – FY18/19 Baseline

10

The carbon footprint for BBC in FY18/19 was 3,858.6 tCO2e. 

Key contributors:

• Emissions from the leased buildings were 1,739.9 tCO2e, 45% 
of the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from Operational Facilities* were 1,050.1 tCO2e, 27%
of the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from BBC’s fleet were 558.4 tCO2e, 15% of the 
carbon footprint.

*(Natural Gas, Electricity and Other Fuels)

FY18/19
3,858.6 tCO2e

Scope 1 1,318.2 34%
Scope 2 290.3 8%
Scope 3 2,250.1 58%
TOTAL 3,858.6 100.0%

Emissions breakdown by scope

*Other includes Other Fuels, Water and Business Travel

Natural Gas 
Consumption

19%

Fleet
15%

Electricity 
Consumption

8%
Waste

<1%Commuting
3%

Leased 
Buildings

45%

WTT and T&D
8%

Other*
2%

P
age 89



Natural Gas 
Consumption

18%

Fleet
20%

Electricity 
Consumption

9%
Waste

<1%
Commuting

5%

Leased 
Buildings

36%

WTT and 
T&D
10%

Other*
2%

Insights – FY19/20

11*Other includes Other Fuels, Water and Business Travel

FY20/21
2,773.6 tCO2e

The carbon footprint for BBC in FY20/21 was 2,773.6 tCO2e. 

Key contributors:

• Emissions from the leased buildings were 1,003.4 tCO2e, 36% 
of the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from Operational Facilities* were 765.3 tCO2e, 28%
of the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from BBC’s fleet were 556.7 tCO2e, 20% of the 
carbon footprint.

*(Natural Gas, Electricity and Other Fuels)

Scope 1 1071.0 39%
Scope 2 257.0 9%
Scope 3 1445.5 52%
TOTAL 2773.6 100%

Emissions breakdown by scope

P
age 90



Insights – FY20/21

12*Other includes Other Fuels, Water and Business Travel

FY20/21
2,313.0 tCO2e

The carbon footprint for BBC in FY20/21 was 2,313.0 tCO2e. 

Key contributors:

• Emissions from the leased buildings were 930.6 tCO2e, 40% of 
the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from Operational Facilities* were 503.3 tCO2e, 22%
of the carbon footprint.

• Emissions from BBC’s fleet were 520.5 tCO2e, 23% of the 
carbon footprint.

*(Natural Gas, Electricity and Other Fuels)

Scope 1 858.9 37%
Scope 2 164.9 7%
Scope 3 1289.2 56%
TOTAL 2313.0 100%

Emissions breakdown by scope

Natural Gas 
Consumption

14%

Fleet
23%

Electricity 
Consumption

7%Waste
<1%

Commuting
5%

Leased 
Buildings

40%

WTT and T&D
9%

Other*
1%

P
age 91



3. Methodology 

P
age 92



Greenhouse gases

14

• Greenhouse gases are not limited to CO2 and
under the Kyoto protocol we must consider the
emissions of several other GHGs when
producing a footprint.

• Each GHG has a specific global warming
potential (GWP).

• We measure all gases in tCO2e – tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent; this reflects the
global warming potential of each gas relative
to CO2.

• When a footprint is quoted in terms of CO2e,
this means that all gases under the Kyoto
protocol are included.

The Kyoto Protocol CO2

N2O

PFCs

HFCs

SF6

CH4

1

310

~10,000

1,500–15,000

23,900

21

NF3 16,100

Fossil fuel combustion

Agriculture and soil 
management

Aluminium and semi-
conductor production

Refrigeration and air 
conditioning

Electricity supply 
equipment

Agriculture and waste

Semi-conductor and 
electronics production

GWP Source

P
age 93



Greenhouse Gas Protocol

15

The Carbon Trust has calculated BBC’s carbon footprint in accordance with the 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol – the most widely used and accepted methodology for 
GHG accounting.

An operational control approach has been taken to determine the organisational 
boundary for the carbon footprint. A company has operational control over an 
operation/entity if it has the full authority to introduce and implement its operating 
policies at the operation. In this case, all activities related to the operation of BBC were 
considered for inclusion in the carbon footprint.

The organisational boundary also help determine how to categorise each emissions 
source within the boundary.

Under the GHG Protocol, emissions are categorised into 3 scopes:

• Scope 1: Emissions directly emitted by the organization (i.e. gas burnt in a gas 
boiler, tail pipe emissions from a vehicle)

• Scope 2: Emissions indirectly emitted from the consumption of purchased 
electricity, heat or steam.

• Scope 3: All other indirect emissions, such as the extraction and production of 
purchased materials and fuels, transport-related activities in vehicles not owned or 
controlled by the reporting entity, water consumption, waste disposal, etc.

Introduction to carbon footprinting

Above: Emission scopes, as defined by the GHG Protocol.

P
age 94



Carbon Footprint Calculations

16

Introduction to carbon footprinting
• Where possible, primary activity data should be collected throughout the reporting period for the carbon footprint calculation.

• Emission factors are updated annually and published by the UK Government’s department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS).

• Where primary activity data is not available, appropriate benchmarks or proxies can be used to estimate emissions from that 
source. For example, typical electricity consumption per m2 of a building. 

kWh 
(utilities)

miles or km 
(transport)

£ (contract 
value)

BEIS factor 
(kgCO2e/unit)

Emission  
(tCO2e)Activity data

Emissions 
factor

proxy factor 
(kgCO2e/unit 

spend)

P
age 95



Emissions sources included

17

Data for each emissions source included in the carbon footprint measurement was collected by BBC and reviewed by the Carbon Trust. Any 
adjustments or estimation that has been applied is reported in Appendix X. 

17

17

Your organisation Services 

Scope 1

Scope 2

Scope 3

Upstream Downstream

Owned
Transport

Fuel 
Combustion

Process and
fugitive

emissions

Purchased
Electricity

Purchased 
goods and
services

Upstream
transport and
distribution

Waste from
operations

Employee
commuting

Upstream
leased 
assets 

Processing
of sold 

products

End-of-life
treatment

Downstream 
leased
assets

Downstream
transport and
distribution

Capital
goods

Use
of sold 

products

FranchisesInvestmentsBusiness
travel

Fuel and
energy-related

activities

Suppliers

Purchased
Heat

More details on inclusions and any emissions sources that are 
currently excluded have been reported in Appendix 1 and 2. 

• Emissions sources to be calculated within the chosen boundary of this assessment were agreed with BBC, and include relevant Scope 1 and 2 
emissions and selected Scope 3 emissions. Relevance of each emissions source was determined using a qualitative assessment of a) 
perceived magnitude, b) data availability, and c) sphere of influence alongside ability to achieve reductions through direct action. 

P
age 96



3. Carbon Footprint 
Analysis 

P
age 97



Natural Gas 
Consumption

46%

Fleet
35%

Other Fuel 
Consumption

1%

Electricity 
Consumption

18%

Carbon footprint breakdown 

19

• The total footprint for BBC in FY18/19 was 3,858.6 tCO2e.

• Over one third of emissions, 34% (1,318.2 tCO2e) were Scope 1, these are operational emissions as a direct result 
of the combustion of fossil fuels within the council buildings and fleet. 

• Only 8% (290.3 tCO2e) were Scope 2, resulting from emissions that arise from operational electricity consumption. 

• Over half of emissions, 58% (2,250.1 tCO2e) arise from Scope 3. The majority of these are attributed to emissions 
from energy consumption in leased buildings and WTT and T&D associated with Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions.

Waste
0%

Water
1%

Commuting
6%

Business Travel -
Transport

2%

Leased Buildings
77%

WTT and T&D
14%

Hotspots

Scope 3
2,250.1 tCO2e

Transmission and Distribution (T&D) 
refers to emissions that are lost 

during the transmission and 
distribution of purchased electricity.

Well-to-tank (WTT) refers to upstream 
emissions of fuels purchased by BBC, 

associated with their extraction, 
production and transportation. 

Scope 1 and 2
1,608.5 tCO2e

P
age 98



Carbon footprint breakdown 

20

• The chart (right) provides a further breakdown of
emissions by scope for each individual emissions
source.

• Leased buildings make up the largest single emissions
source, representing 45% (1,739.9 tCO2e) of the total
footprint.

• Operation of buildings and facilities by the council is an
emissions hotspot. Emissions from electricity, gas and
other fuel consumption make up 27% of the total
footprint (1,050.1 tCO2e).

• Operation of the council’s fleet is also a major
contributor to the footprint, accounting for 15% (558.4
tCO2e) of the total footprint.

• Emissions from supply of water, treatment of
wastewater, employee commuting and business travel
are only a small part of the footprint – approximately 5%
(187.0 tCO2e).

Hotspots

361.8 850.1 23.6 690.1 37.9 9.2 1739.9 125.4 13.4
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

P
age 99



Carbon Footprint

21

• As the UK switches more of its energy production to renewable
sources, less carbon dioxide will be produced by the generation of
electricity.

• This means over time the grid electricity that is used by consumers
will become less carbon intensive.

• Already between 2010 and 2020 the carbon intensity of grid
electricity has decreased by over 50%. This has largely been driven
by coal fired power plants being taken off line and the large scale
rollout of offshore wind farms.

• The projections of the grid intensity in the future are produced by
BEIS1. It is expected that the carbon intensity of grid electricity will
be just 4% of 2010’s values.

• Other projections produced by national grid even have the carbon
intensity becoming negative under certain scenarios – namely
through the roll out of bioenergy carbon capture and storage.

• This “greening of the grid” makes electrification of transport and
heating an attractive option from a carbon reduction perspective.
Already the grid is green enough to mean travelling one kilometre
in an electric vehicle is less carbon intensive than one kilometre by
a petrol/diesel vehicle. It is anticipated that in the next few years,
the grid will have decarbonised enough to mean one kWh of
heating consumed from an electric heater will be less carbon
intensive than one kWh of heating from a gas boiler.

UK Electricity Grid Decarbonisation

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

1 BEIS Green Book

P
age 100



Operational Emissions

22

• The chart (right) provides site level view of operational
emissions (Gas and Electricity) for FY18/19.

• Operational emissions from all sites make up 27% (1050.1
tCO2e) of the total footprint.1

• Emissions are dominated by the Geoff Moulder Leisure
Complex and the Crematorium. These two sites account
for 73% of all operational emissions.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural
gas, used for space and water heating functions. These
emissions will not decrease with time in line with UK grid
decarbonisation. Reducing these emissions will require
energy efficiency measures and switching heating modes,
e.g. air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption,
and costs associated with Scope 2 emissions, will
increase over time. Due to the rate of grid decarbonisation,
it is unlikely that Scope 2 emissions themselves will
increase. Hence measures should also be taken to reduce
electricity consumption across all operational sites.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC operated buildings and facilities

*Other contains temporary accommodation sites, leisure sites, 
power supply, depot and public toilets.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Head Office Guildhall
Museum

Geoff Moulder
Leisure

Complex

Crematorium Other*

Scope 2 (Electricity) Scope 1 (Gas)

1 WTT and T&D is excluded from these numbers. It was found to be 
182.4 tCO2e for operational emissions.

P
age 101



Carbon Footprint

23

• At present there are two methodologies that can be used to account for scope 2 emissions:
• A location-based approach is the most frequently used and uses an emission factor based on all the

generating supplies of electricity to the grid (national grid). This is the approach that has been used within this
report. The introduction of any renewable generators exporting to the grid is captured in a lower UK wide grid
emission factor, that everyone benefits from within their carbon accounting.

• Alternatively, a market-based approach looks at where the consumer of electricity pays to have their electricity
come from, such that if a consumer makes the conscious decision to purchase electricity from a ‘green’
supplier then this is accounted for in their carbon footprint. When a market-based approach is used and the
footprint reported, the location-based footprint must always be reported alongside.

• Incentivising the reporting of a location based approach is good practice as it ensures that the challenge of reducing
demand through energy efficiency is tackled first. Moreover, reduced demand means less consumption and thus
cheaper bills, whereas simply switching to a green supplier may result in increased electricity bills.

Market versus Location Based Approaches

P
age 102



Leased Buildings Emissions

24

• Emissions from leased buildings were found to be 1,739.9 tCO2e,
45% of the carbon footprint.

• 19.4 tCO2e is from consumption of Biomass at the Princess
Royal Sports Arena and the Enterprise Centre.

• Where actual consumption data was not available, emissions
were estimated from the floor area and building type.

• The chart (right) provides building category view of estimated
electricity and gas consumption FY18/19.

• The majority of emissions arise from the use of natural gas, used
for space and water heating functions. These emissions will not
decrease with time in line with UK grid decarbonisation. Reducing
these emissions will require energy efficiency measures and
switching heating modes, e.g. air source heat pumps.

• As a result of these measures, electricity consumption, and costs
associated with Scope 2 emissions, will increase over time. Due
to the rate of grid decarbonisation, it is unlikely that Scope 2
emissions themselves will increase. Hence measures should also
be taken to reduce electricity consumption across all operational
sites.

• Leased building emissions are Scope 3 and BBC does not have
direct control over them. It is important that BBC influence and
engage with building occupants to adopt energy efficiency and
fuel switching measures.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC leased buildings

0

200000

400000

600000

800000

1000000

1200000

1400000

1600000

Total Electricity Consumption Total Gas Consumption

P
age 103



25

Road Sweeper
5% Van

12%

Tractor
1%

Refuse Disposal
81%

Diesel Car
0%

Pool Car
1%

Fleet Emissions

• The BBC fleet contained 41 vehicles in FY18/19. 35 of these were diesel fueled maintenance vehicles, one
diesel car and 5 pool cars, assigned petrol fuel type. Maintenance vehicles include road sweepers, vans,
refuse disposal vehicles and tractors.

• Emissions from fleet contributed 558.4 tCO2e*, equivalent to 15% to the total carbon footprint.

• Fuel consumption figures were provided by BBC. The total estimated fuel consumption for FY18/19 was
213,045 litres.

*Figures excluding well-to-tank, WTT. An additional 131.7 tCO2e was associated with Scope 3 WTT emissions from fleet fuel consumption

Emissions from fuel consumed in vehicles owned and operated by the council

FY18/19
558.4 tCO2e

P
age 104



26

Waste • Emissions from waste were 9.2 tCO2e, equivalent to 0.2% of the total carbon footprint.

• The volume of waste bins by waste type (general waste, dry mixed recycling etc.) was
provided, along with their collection frequency for most operational sites. It was assumed
all bins were at full capacity each time they are collected. Waste density factors were used
to convert the volume of waste into mass, and emissions were calculated.

• Going forwards, effort should be made to collect waste data for all sites.

Water and waste

• Emissions from water consumption were 23.6 tCO2e, equivalent to 0.6% of the total carbon
footprint.

• It was assumed that 95% of water supplied was treated as waste water.

• The majority of emissions (88%) arise from water consumption at toilets (59%) and sports
facilities (29%).

Water

P
age 105



27

Commuting
• Commuting data for employees of BBC was not available, therefore an emissions factor was applied based

on the number of employees.

• BBC has 297 employees. Emissions from commuting were 125 tCO2e, equivalent to 3% of the total
footprint.

Business Travel and Commuting

• Emissions from business travel were 37.9 tCO2e,
equivalent to 1% of the total carbon footprint.

• A total of 120,899 miles were expensed at a cost of
£46,526.

• Diesel vehicles accounted for almost two thirds of
emissions in this category (24.6 tCO2e), despite accounting
for only 58% of mileage. A similar trend can be seen with
petrol vehicles.

• Conversely, rail travel accounts for only 3% of emissions,
despite making up 15% of mileage. Low carbon transport
should be encouraged for business travel purposes across
the organisation.

Business Travel

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Diesel Petrol Hybrid Rail

Emissions Mileage

P
age 106



4. Comparative Analysis

P
age 107



Context

29

• BBC are interested in gauging the impact of the COVID -19 pandemic on their Carbon Footprint. The pandemic has significantly 
affected daily activity at BBC and its impact is clear to see in the FY20/21 footprint. Employees were encouraged to work from 
home, business travel was restricted and activity at leased sites was limited due to national restrictions.

• In total emissions decreased by 40% in FY20/21 compared to the baseline, and emissions decreased across all categories. BBC 
could use the learnings from this year to identify potential methods for emissions reduction across the Council.

3858.6 2773.6 2313.0
0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

3000.0

3500.0

4000.0

4500.0

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3

P
age 108



Annual performance

301Scope 3 emissions sources include: Water, Business travel, Leased buildings, Waste, Commuting, T&D and 
WTT

Key drivers:

• Emissions from operational natural gas consumption
(scope 1) decreased by 56% from FY18/19 to
FY20/21.

• Emissions from operational grid electricity (scope 2)
decreased by 43% from FY18/19 to FY20/21.

• Emissions from leased buildings decreased by 47%
(scope 3). This is partially driven by reduced electricity
consumption for the Princess Royal Sports Arena,
despite a small increase in LPG consumption at this
site.

• Emissions from fleet (scope 1) decreased by 7%.
Despite an increase in heavy duty diesel vehicles in the
fleet, the litres of fuel consumed decreased over this
period.

The pandemic has meant leisure centres were 
periodically closed to the public and employees were 
more likely to be working from home, which would likely 
decrease the amount of electricity and heating fuels 
consumed at operational sites such as offices and 
leisure centres.

Baseline
3,858.6 tCO2e

FY19/20
2,773.6 tCO2e

FY20/21
2,313.0 tCO2e

-28% -40%

0.0 500.0 1000.0 1500.0 2000.0

Natural Gas Consumption

Fleet

Other Fuel Consumption

Electricity Consumption

Waste

Water

Commuting

Business Travel - Transport

Leased Buildings

WTT and T&D

Total Emissions (tCO2e)

FY20/21 FY19/20 FY18/19

P
age 109



Insights  

31

Summary

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

Scope Emissions Source Total emissions 
(tCO2e)

Percentage of 
total (%)

Total emissions 
(tCO2e)

Percentage of 
total (%)

Total emissions 
(tCO2e)

Percentage of total 
(%)

% change in 
emissions 
FY18/19-
FY20/21

1

Natural Gas Consumption 746.4 19% 486.3 18% 329.9 14% -56% 

Fleet 558.4 14% 562.7 20% 520.5 23% -7% 

Other Fuel Consumption 13.4 0.3% 22.0 1% 8.6 0.4%
-36% 

2 Electricity Consumption 290.3 8% 257.0 9% 164.9 7%
-43%



3

Waste 9.2 0.2% 9.2 0.3% 9.2 0.4% -94% -

Water 23.6 0.6% 20.0 1% 13.2 0.6%
-44%



Commuting 125.4 3% 125.4 5% 120.3 5% -4% 

Business Travel - Transport 37.9 1% 18.2 1% 5.7 0.2% -85% 

Leased Buildings 1739.9 45% 1003.4 36% 930.6 40% -47% 

WTT and T&D 314.1 8% 269.4 10% 210.2 9% -33% 

Total 3858.6 100.0% 2773.6 100% 2313.0 100% -40% 

One tonne of CO2e (tCO2e) is the equivalent 
to the average emissions of one passenger 
on a return-flight from Paris to New York or 

driving 6000km in a diesel car.

P
age 110



*Figures exclude WTT and T&D. Table 2 details associated Scope 3 WTT and T&D 
emissions for operational scope 1 and 2

Comparison | Operational Emissions

In FY20/21, there was a 36% decrease in operational scope 1 and 2 emissions
compared to the baseline, largely driven by a 56% decrease in natural gas
consumption.

• In FY20/21 operational Scope 1 emissions made up 37% of the total carbon
footprint:

• Emissions from natural gas consumption decreased by 56% compared to
the baseline, driven by decreased consumption of gas at Municipal
Buildings, Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex and Crematorium.

• Emissions from other fuel consumption (biomass and LPG) decreased by
36% compared to the baseline, driven by decreased consumption of gas at
the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex

• In FY20/21, operational Scope 2 emissions decreased by 43% compared to the
baseline. This was due to a decrease in electricity consumption at Municipal
Buildings, the Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre and Crematorium.

Emissions from consumption of gas and electricity at BBC operated 
buildings and facilities

Total Emissions (tCO2e) FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21
WTT and T&D Natural Gas 103.7 63.2 42.9
WTT and T&D Fleet 131.7 134.1 124.9
WTT and T&D Other Fuels 7.2 11.3 4.5
WTT and T&D Electricity 71.5 60.7 38.9

Table 2. WTT and T&D emissions associated with 
operational scope 1+2 emissions

Baseline
1,050.1 tCO2e

FY19/20
765.3 tCO2e

FY20/21
503.3 tCO2e

-27% -52%

746

13

290

486

22

257
330

9

165

Natural Gas
Consumption

Other Fuel
Consumption

Electricity
Consumption

Operational Emissions

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

P
age 111



33

Comparison | Leased Buildings

• Emissions from leased buildings decreased by 47% in FY20/21
compared to the baseline.

• Where actual activity data was unavailable, leased building electricity and
gas consumption was estimated from floor area and building type.
Electricity activity data was provided for the Princess Royal Sports Arena,
Travellers Site Redstone and LCC space in Municipal Buildings. Any
changes in emissions must come from changes to this activity data.

• Consumption at the Redstone Travellers Site decreased by 4% compared
to the baseline in FY19/20, but increased by 1% compared to the baseline
in FY20/21.

• The decrease in emissions was driven by reduced gas and electricity
consumption for the Princess Royal Sports Arena, Enterprise Centre and
LCC space in Municipal Buildings, despite a small increase in LPG
consumption at PRSA.

Baseline
1,739.9 tCO2e

FY19/20
1,003.4 tCO2e

FY20/21
930.6 tCO2e

-42% -47%

1,720

903 868

19

100 63

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

Leased Buildings (Gas and Electricity) Leased Buildings (Other Fuels)

P
age 112



34

Comparison | Fleet

• The BBC fleet FY18/19 contained 41 vehicles. 35 were large diesel vehicles such as 
road sweepers, vans and tractors. The change in fleet composition can be seen in 
the table below. In FY20/21, 11 large diesel vehicles were added to the fleet.

• Fuel consumption and cost data was provided for vehicles. The fuel consumption 
for each year can be seen in the graph to the right.

• Emissions from fleet vehicles decreased by 7% in FY20/21 compared to the 
baseline, even though there were more vehicles in the fleet in FY20/21. This is due 
to the reduced fuel consumption.

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

Vehicle Type Number of 
vehicles

Emissions 
(tCO2e)

Number of 
vehicles

Emissions 
(tCO2e)

Number of 
vehicles

Emissions 
(tCO2e)

Large diesel 
vehicles misc. 35 551.6 33 555.4 46 516.3

Diesel cars 1 0.2 0 0 0 0
Petrol cars 5 6.6 5 7.3 6 4.1

Total number of vehicles and emissions

Baseline
558.4 tCO2e

FY19/20
562.7 tCO2e

FY20/21
520.5 tCO2e

+1% -7%

213,045

217,420

204,705

 195,000.00

 200,000.00

 205,000.00

 210,000.00

 215,000.00

 220,000.00

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

P
age 113



35

Waste

• Waste related emissions remained constant across the three footprint years. This is because waste was
estimated from approximate waste volume data which was the same across the three years. General waste
was assumed to be combusted as waste-to-energy. Collection of more specific waste data will enable more
insight into waste processing in BBC.

Comparison | Water and waste

• Water consumption decreased by 44% from the baseline to FY20/21. This was driven by a decrease in the
volume of water consumed from 23,263 m3 in the baseline to 12,971 m3 in FY20/21. The decrease in water
consumption occurred at public toilet facilities and the Geoff Moulder Leisure Complex. The reason for the
decrease is likely due to people staying home more during the pandemic; closure of facilities; or changes in
usage through new hygiene habits.

Water Baseline
23.6 tCO2e

FY19/20
19.9 tCO2e

FY20/21
13.1 tCO2e

-16% -44%

Baseline
9.2 tCO2e

FY19/20
9.2 tCO2e

FY20/21
9.2 tCO2e

-0% -0%

P
age 114



36

Comparison | Business travel

• Business travel by car and rail journeys was reported.

• The total mileage claimed was 120,899 miles in the baseline and 17,188 miles in FY20/21. This dramatic
decrease in mileage is likely due to the effects of pandemic, where employees were encouraged to work from
home and business travel was discouraged unless vital.

• As a result of reduced mileage likely driven by the travel restrictions imposed during the pandemic, emissions
from business travel decreased by 84%.

Remote 
Working

Electric 
Vehicle 

Charging
Car sharing

Active 
Travel

Public 
Transport

Video 
Conferencing

Reducing emissions from business travel

Baseline
37.9 tCO2e

FY19/20
18.5 tCO2e

FY20/21
5.9 tCO2e

-52% -85%

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Diesel Petrol Hybrid Rail

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

P
age 115



Comparison | Commuting

37

• Emissions from commuting decreased by 4% from the baseline to FY20/21.

• Commuting was estimated by applying a benchmark to employee numbers, so the decrease is due to a decreased number of employees at
BBC from 297 to 285 in FY20/21.

• It is likely the effects of the pandemic had a greater effect on commuting levels than seen here. Carbon Trust recommend BBC collect an
annual commuting survey, detailing the mode of transport, distance commuted and number of days per week commuted. This would allow for
a more accurate analysis of commuting emissions to be carried out.

Baseline
125.3 tCO2e

FY19/20
125.3 tCO2e

FY20/21
120.3 tCO2e

-0% -4%

125 125

120

FY18/19 FY19/20 FY20/21

P
age 116



5. Recommendations 
and next steps

P
age 117



39

Recommendation 1
Data collection processes 

• To streamline the calculation of the footprint, BBC should work to
implement a data collection framework to facilitate the data
collection process, share responsibilities across the team and
ensure data is provided to an appropriate level of detail and in a
timely manner.

• Designated data owners across each team e.g. estates or finance
could collect the required data and communicate this directly to a
central sustainability lead. This will allow relevant data at the
correct level of detail to be collected across departments and fed to
a dedicated resource who can collate the data.

Data 
Owner 1

Data 
Owner 2

Data 
Owner 3

Data Owner

P
age 118



40

Recommendation 2

Data quality 
To improve the accuracy of the footprint calculation, BBC should focus efforts towards improving the quality of collected data for their
scope 1, 2 and 3 carbon footprint measurement.

Leased Buildings
As a significant contributor to emissions, it is important that BBC has an accurate picture of emissions from this category. Efforts
should be made to collect primary electricity and gas consumption data for these sites. This will enable monitoring of actual
consumption change to be carried out and carbon reduction projects to be tracked.

Waste
Collection of actual waste data from operated buildings and facilities. Moving beyond approximations and collecting waste
tonnage and type will provide more clarity on how waste is managed so that BBC can make more informed decisions on how to
reduce its impacts.

Commuting
Consider running a staff survey collecting vehicle type, distance travelled and travel frequency data from employees. This will
enable primary commuting data to be collected, improving the accuracy of the footprint.

P
age 119



41

Recommendation 3

• Once a carbon footprint has been measured, measuring progress is an important part of implementing a carbon reduction strategy. Monitoring
and reporting are essential activities that should be undertaken at least annually, and beyond.

• Collection of data should be completed internally on a regular basis. This process should become streamlined as the necessary data sources
and associated owners become familiar with the process and adopt best practice data management.

• BBC’s carbon footprint should be reported regularly to allow for monitoring of progress and the impacts of initiatives that are put in place.

• In addition to monitoring the footprint itself, BBC should continually monitor how local plans and policies will affect BBC’s footprint and affect
BBC’s ability to reach respective carbon reduction targets. This will help the project team to identify other potential carbon reduction
opportunities and ensure that any carbon reduction co-benefits of specific policies can be delivered.

Monitoring and Reporting

P
age 120



42

Recommendation 4
Internal engagement and strategy

• BBC should communicate the results of the carbon
footprint to all staff members and if possible, externally.

• Results from the footprint should be published internally
and externally to signal the organisation’s commitment to
reducing its impacts.

• BBC should focus on developing a variety of internal
communications to raise awareness and build capabilities
internally. This will be crucial when looking to develop a
strategy that is effective. Engagement from the offset will
help gain buy-in for BBC’s priorities, and encourage
behaviour change across the organisation.

BBC Group

Key Stakeholders

P
age 121



43

Next Steps

1. Presentation to senior leadership

2. Target setting and pathway analysis

• Using the findings of this footprint report, Carbon Trust will use the baseline to
model a target pathway that aligns to national Net Zero commitments and compare
this to a business as usual scenario. This will help identify the emissions reductions
required to align to national targets, and frame discussions around how to achieve
it.

3. Stakeholder workshops

• Results of the carbon footprint report, pathway analysis and action plan will be
presented to stakeholders

4. Carbon Reduction Plan

• Carbon Trust will work closely with BBC to identify and prioritise carbon reduction
projects and develop an initial set of recommendations to assist carbon reduction
activities across the organisation.

P
age 122



Appendices

P
age 123



Appendix 1: Emissions sources included

45

BBC opted to include the following emissions sources in their carbon footprint. Data for each emissions source was collected by BBC and reviewed by the Carbon 
Trust. Adjustments to figures have been applied where necessary. Any emissions sources that are currently excluded have been reporting in Appendix 3. 

Scope Activity data Source Data Data quality and assumptions

Scope 1

Natural gas consumption Consumption and cost data was provided for operational facilities and buildings. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Vehicle fossil fuel 
consumption

Fuel consumption and cost data for the fleet vehicles operated by BBC was provided. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Other Fuels Consumption and cost data was provided for operational facilities. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Scope 2
Electricity consumption 
in buildings

Consumption and cost data was provided for operational facilities and buildings. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Scope 3

Business travel (transport 
& accommodation)

mileage and cost data was provided for expensed journeys. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Water consumption Consumption and cost data was provided for operational facilities and buildings. Actual consumption data was used to calculate emissions.

Waste output and 
disposal

The number of bins, volume of bins and waste stream of each bin was provided for 
selected facilities, along with collection frequency. 

It was assumed each bin was full at time of collection. Waste density factors were used to convert volume to 
mass. Emissions were calculated from this mass. General waste was assumed to be combusted.

Leased Buildings
Electricity consumption data was provided for PRSA, Redstone Travellers Site and LCC 
space in Municipal Buildings. Floor area was provided for remaining sites.

Where actual consumption data was available, this was used to calculate emissions. Where not available, 
emissions were estimated from the floor area and building type.

Employee commuting No employee commuting data was provided. A benchmark was applied to the number of employees to estimate emissions.

P
age 124



Appendix 2: Excluded emissions sources

46

Emissions source Assessment Reason for exclusion

Scope 1 Refrigerants Not included Could be included in future footprints

Scope 3 
(upstream)

Upstream 
transportation and 
distribution

Not relevant
Any transport related to purchased 
goods is included in Category 1: 
Purchased goods and services

Upstream leased 
assets

Not included
Leased asset energy consumption is 
estimated and Scope 3 excluded

Purchased goods and 
services

Not Included Could be included in future footprints

Scope 3 
(downstream) 

Investments Not relevant Could be included in future footprints

Downstream 
transportation and 
distribution

Not relevant
Could be included in future footprints

Processing of sold 
products

Not relevant
BBC do not manufacture any goods

Use of sold products Not relevant BBC do not manufacture any goods

End-of-life treatment 
of sold products

Not relevant
BBC do not manufacture any goods

Franchises Not relevant BBC do not operate any franchises

The GHG Protocol recognises that there are several reasons why an
organisation may exclude sources of emissions from their inventory,
either because it is not relevant or because there are challenges with
collecting reliable information. For this footprint, the following
emissions sources were not included. It is recommended that these
be kept under review for inclusion in future years.

Some emissions categories are not relevant to BBC’s operations and 
have therefore been excluded from this footprint (e.g. franchises). 

P
age 125



Appendix 3: Data sources

47

Raw data, emissions factors and benchmarks used in calculation of the footprint are detailed here

• Utilities, vehicle mileage, water consumption, business travel data used for the carbon footprint – BBC
• Emission Factors – BEIS
• BEIS car size classification – BEISP

age 126



Whilst reasonable steps have been taken to ensure that the information contained within this publication is correct, the authors, 
the Carbon Trust, its agents, contractors and sub-contractors give no warranty and make no representation as to its accuracy 
and accept no liability for any errors or omissions. All trademarks, service marks and logos in this publication, and copyright in it, 
are the property of the Carbon Trust (or its licensors). Nothing in this publication shall be construed as granting any licence or 
right to use or reproduce any of the trademarks, services marks, logos, copyright or any proprietary information in any way 
without the Carbon Trust’s prior written permission. The Carbon Trust enforces infringements of its intellectual property rights to 
the full extent permitted by law.

The Carbon Trust is a company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales under company number 4190230 with 
its registered office at 4th Floor Dorset House, Stamford Street, London SE1 9NT.

© The Carbon Trust 2021. All rights reserved. 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: Environment and Performance Committee 

DATE: 7th December 2021 

SUBJECT: 

 

 

PURPOSE:  

 

 

Protecting the health and wellbeing of residents living in Houses in 

Multiple Occupation 

 

To provide an update report in respect of the empowering healthy 

communities programme 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Martin Griggs – Portfolio Holder Housing and Communities 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Jonathan Challen – Safer Communities Service Manager  

Jonathan Challen – Safer Communities Service Manager 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report details the work being carried out by the Council’s Housing Standards Team to 

ensure the safety of residents living in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) within the 

Borough.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

To continue with the initiatives and resources currently being utilised to deliver the work being 

carried out, as detailed in paragraphs 2.2 – 2.8 

Consider the formation of a Task and Finish Group to investigate opportunities that are available 

to the Council to assist with tacking issues relating to HMOs. 

 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 2



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To ensure the safety of residents living in HMOs 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1.  During a recent update report in respect of the empowering healthy communities 

programme members expressed a wish that the ongoing overcrowding and living 

standards of many HMOs in Boston be accorded the same attention and consideration as 

the holiday caravans in ELDC. 

 

1.2. HMOs present the highest risk properties within the Borough and are often occupied by 

some of the most vulnerable residents. 

 

1.3. The Cabinet last discussed the approach to HMOs in 2014. The conclusions were: 

 

• To not currently proceed with any discretionary licensing model for the private rented 

sector within the Borough.  

• That the Council work with landlord associations to increase engagement with 

landlords, promote good practice and explore appropriate voluntary accreditation 

schemes.  

• That a further report be taken to the Overview and Scrutiny – Corporate and 

Community Committee and to Cabinet presenting the initial findings from the rogue 

landlord work, which considered a longer-term sustainable model for effectively 

addressing the issues present within Boston’s private rented sector.  

• That the Council actively sought a continuation of the rogue landlord funding which 

expired during 2014/15. Boston BC was successful with submitting bids for continued 

funding (Rogue Landlord Funding and then Controlling Migration Funding) which helped 

provide additional staff until 2020, but it was reliant on expensive contractors which 

were difficult to find of any quality, and retain, however all this funding has now run 

out.  

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. In order to ensure the safety and wellbeing of residents living in HMO’s the Council’s 

Housing Standards Team has been carrying out the following work: 

 

2.2. The Housing Standards Team is responsible the investigation of complaints in relation to 

housing conditions across the private sector, which includes HMOs. Certain types of HMOs 

are also required to be licensed by the Council.  A HMO will require a licence if all 3 of the 

following criteria are met. 

• The property meets the standard test, the self-contained flat test, or the converted 

building test (Section 254 of the Housing Act 2004). Page 130



• The property is occupied by 5 or more people. 

• The property is occupied by persons living in two or more separate households. 

 

2.3. Boston BC’s Housing Standards Team works closely with Lincolnshire Police and 

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue to carry out joint visits to HMOs. The team also receive 

referrals from these partner agencies when visits are carried out to properties for other 

purposes, where intelligence subsequently suggests that the property is being occupied as 

a HMO. 

 

2.4. Over the last year the Council’s Housing Health and Wellbeing Officer has been carrying 

out a broad spectrum of work across the Borough. This officer has been engaging with the 

local landlords and letting agents of HMOs to discuss ways in which we can work together 

to promote a whole range of housing, health, and wellbeing initiatives / issues. An action 

plan has been agreed with 7 local letting agents who are well established lettings 

companies who cover approximately 1,500 residential properties and across 90 HMOs, 

totalling approximately 700 rooms. Information provided to the lettings agent includes: 

• Covid-19 how to stay safe and help prevent the spread leaflets provided with a 

request to display the information within the properties on their weekly/monthly 

inspections. 

• Translated (7 languages) leaflets provided with the information about the EU 

Settlement Scheme, the importance of registering with GP, Promoting the PRSA 

Vaccination Centre and refuse issues including fly-tipping.  

• Right Thing Right Bin Leaflets translated in different languages and displayed in 

HMO’s. 

• Bin collection calendar and all relevant information regarding the presenting 

rubbish and rubbish separation has been provided to the lettings agent with a 

request to include this in new tenants moving packs.  

• The leaflets (translated) have been delivered to the agent for them to distribute to 

their tenants while carrying the inspections.  

• Fly-tipping posters designed and distributed 

 

2.5. Officers meet on a monthly basis through a working group that was established to discuss 

the themes and priorities raised in paragraph 2.4. 

 

2.6. Following the resignation of a Senior Housing Standards Officer earlier in the year the 

service has acted swiftly to advertise and reappoint to this role in order to reduce the 

impact of the vacancy. A Senior Housing Standards Officer has now been appointed, 

starting on 1st December 2021. 

 

2.7. Following a service review of the housing function being delivered across Boston BC and 

East Lindsey DC, work has started on aligning the 2 Housing Standards Teams that provide 

these services to each Council. In addition to aligning / streamlining processes, this 

amalgamation will provide greater resilience to both Councils. The benefit of this piece of 

work is already being realised with officers from East Lindsey DC assisting with cases within 

the Boston Borough during the period of staff vacancies. 

 

2.8. Officers will be attending and facilitating at the Joint Lincolnshire Online Landlord Forum 

on 8th December 2021.  Page 131



 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1. The engagement of landlords, letting agents and residents of HMOs is of paramount 

importance to the Council’s Housing Standards Team. Resources are active deployed to 

ensure that the relevant standards for these properties are being met in order to protect 

some of the most vulnerable residents within the Borough. 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

It is anticipated that elements of the work being carried out by the Boston BC Housing Standards 
Team, such as the initiatives being led by the Housing, Health and Wellbeing Officer listed in 
paragraph 2.4, could be replicated across East Lindsey and South Holland areas of the Partnership. 
 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

There are no vacant posts or requests for additional resources as part of this report. 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 

FINANCIAL 

None 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Page 132



No consultation undertaken 

 

REPUTATION 

None 

 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Detailed within paragraph 2.4 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

ACRONYMS 

HMO – House in Multiple Occupation 

PRSA – Princess Royal Sports Arena 

 

APPENDICES 

None  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Page 133



A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author:  Jonathan Challen – Safer Communities Service 

Manager 

jonathan.challen@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

01507 613051 

Signed off by: Name and full contact details 

Approved for publication: Name of Councillor (if required) 

 

 

Page 134

mailto:jonathan.challen@e-lindsey.gov.uk


 
 

 

Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2021–22 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

MEETING 
DATE 

AGENDA ITEMS REPORT AUTHOR PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER 

CABINET 

27.04.21 
 

1. Member Learning and Development Strategy - 21 to 2024 
2. Quarter 3 Performance / Work Programme 
3. Task & Finish Group Recommendations First Review 
4. Verbal update on MWG – Fly Tipping 

Assistant Director – Organisation 
Standing Item Chairman 

Assistant Director – Regulation 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Cllr P Skinner 
 
“ 
“ 

12.05.2021 

22.06.21 
 
 
 

1. Recovery Plan – update   
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme 

Assistant Dir. Economic Growth 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 

Cllr P Skinner 23.06.21 

 

07.09.21 
 

 

1. Annual CCTV Report.   update   
2. Annual ASB Report.     update   
3. Provision of Public Conveniences – Boston  (verbal) 
4. BBC Social Media Acceptable Use Policy 
5. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
6. Work Programme  

 

Assistant Director - Regulation 
Assistant Director – Regulation 
Assistant Director - Operation 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Cllr J Welbourn 
Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr T Abbott 

Cllr P Skinner 

 
08.09.21 

 
26.10.21 
 

 

1. Draft Climate Change Strategy for consultation  
2. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
3. Work Programme to include Q1. 

 

Assistant Director - Regulation 
Cllr Judy Welbourn 

Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
 

 
17.11.21 

 

07.12.21 
 

 

1. Carbon Reduction Plan 
2. Protecting the health and wellbeing of residents living 

Houses in Multiple Occupancy. 
3. Update on Member Working Group – Fly Tipping 
4. Work Programme 

 

 

Assistant Director - Regulation 
Safer Communities Manager 

 
Cllr J Welbourn 
Standing Item. 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr M Griggs 

 

 

08.12.21 

 

01.02.22 
 

 

1. Representation by Anglian Water – awaiting response 
2. Single Use Waste Policy 
3. Quarter 2 Performance    

 

   

09.02.22 

 

P
age 135

A
genda Item

 4



 
 

 
22.03.22 
 

 
1. Adoption of Climate Change Strategy 
2. Landlords Forum – awaiting response  

 

   
30.03.22 

 
10.05.22 
 

    
11.05.22 

 
 

 

OPTIONS FOR SCRUTINY WORKING - current at issue of agenda 
 

 

Task and Finish Group Review 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication 
 

  

 

Member Working Group 
 

Fly-Tipping Working Group – verbal update at each meeting of the committee. 
 

  

 

Inquiry Session 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication  
 

  

 

All Member Briefings 
 

None scheduled at time of agenda publication  
 

 

Chairman:   Councillor Judith Skinner.     Vice Chairman:  Councillor Judy Welbourn 

Lead Officer:   Christian Allen   Clerk:       Karen Rist 

Pending future reporting: 

Public Convenience provision Boston.  Update report following initial tabling in September 2021. 

P
age 136


	Agenda
	B. MINUTES
	1 CARBON REDUCTION PLAN BOSTON
	APPENDIX A.  Carbon Reduction Plan
	Appendix B.  Carbon Footprint Report

	2 PROTECTING THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING OF RESIDENTS LIVING IN HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPANCY
	4 WORK PROGRAMME

